

BRAIN-TRAINS

BRAIN-TRansversal Assessment of Intermodal New Strategies

THIERRY VANELSLANDER – University of Antwerp FRANK TROCH – University of Antwerp KOEN VERHOEST – University of Antwerp CHRISTINE TAWFIK – University of Liège MARTINE MOSTERT – University of Liège SABINE LIMBOURG – University of Liège ANGEL MERCHAN – University of Liège FLORENT LAROCHE – University of Lyon

Axis 4: Federal public strategies





NETWORK PROJECT

BRAIN-TRAINS

BRAIN-TRansversal Assessment of Intermodal New Strategies

Contract - BR/132/A4/BRAIN-TRAINS

FINAL REPORT

PROMOTORS:THIERRY VANELSLANDER (University of Antwerp)SABINE LIMBOURG (University of Liège)ANGELIQUE LEONARD (University of Liège)KOEN VERHOEST (University of Antwerp)

AUTHORS: FRANK TROCH (University of Antwerp) CHRISTINE TAWFIK (University of Liège) MARTINE MOSTERT (University of Liège) ANGEL MERCHAN (University of Liège) FLORENT LAROCHE (University of Lyon)









Published in 2018 by the Belgian Science Policy Office Avenue Louise 231 Louizalaan 231 B-1050 Brussels Belgium Tel: +32 (0)2 238 34 11 - Fax: +32 (0)2 230 59 12 http://www.belspo.be http://www.belspo.be/brain-be

Contact person: Georges JAMART Tel: +32 (0)2 238 36 90

Neither the Belgian Science Policy Office nor any person acting on behalf of the Belgian Science Policy Office is responsible for the use which might be made of the following information. The authors are responsible for the content.

No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, or otherwise, without indicating the reference : Vanelslander, T., Troch, F., Verhoest, K., Tawfik, C., Mostert, M., Limbourg, S., Merchan, A., Leonard, A., Laroche, F., **BRAIN-TRansversal Assessment of Intermodal New Strategies**. Final Report. Brussels : Belgian Science Policy Office 2018 – 49 p. (BRAIN-be - (Belgian Research Action through Interdisciplinary Networks))

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| ABSTRACT | 5 |
|---|----|
| Context | 5 |
| Objectives | 5 |
| Conclusions | 5 |
| Keywords | 6 |
| 1. INTRODUCTION | 7 |
| 2. STATE OF THE ART AND OBJECTIVES | 9 |
| 3. METHODOLOGY | 14 |
| 4. SCIENTIFIC RESULTS AND RECOMMENDATIONS | 25 |
| 5. DISSEMINATION AND VALORISATION | 34 |
| 6. PUBLICATIONS | 35 |
| 7. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS | 39 |
| REFERENCES | 40 |
| | |

ABSTRACT

Context

Transport is critical for Europe's economic competitiveness and commercial exchange. The Common Transport Policy, set out in the European Commission's White Papers on Transport, with the last version dating back only to 2011, establishes ambitious objectives, seeking to achieve an efficient and sustainable balance between the various transport modes, to the benefit of commercial transport users and society at large.

In contrast to this policy objective, the dominant freight transport mode by far is road transport, with a market share of 76.4% in Europe in 2010) (as compared to 73.7% in 2000), and 69.5% in Belgium (as compared to 77.4% in 2000). Even though there is an improvement to be observed in Belgium, there is still ample spare capacity for the so-called alternative transport modes, being rail, inland navigation and pipelines as far as freight is concerned.

Effectively integrating the alternative modes of transport into today's highly international logistics supply chains will be key to reaching a better balance between the modes. Such intermodality requires that the different modes (rail, inland navigation, pipelines, road and maritime transport) be easily inter-operable, physically in the first place. At the same time, sufficient competition needs to be safeguarded within these alternatives modes. There is a clear risk in rail freight transport for instance of getting dominated by a limited number of powerful, integrated international groups (Gevaers et al., 2012).

Objectives

BRAIN-TRAINS' main goal is to develop a blue print establishing the detailed criteria and conditions for developing an innovative intermodal network in and through Belgium as part of the Trans-European Transport Network (TEN-T). More concretely, the project will develop an operational framework (incorporating the required criteria and conditions) within which effective intermodal transport can be successfully established and within which all stakeholders can have beneficial participation and commitment. Focus will be on rail intermodality, hence taking rail developments at the focus. The project also tackles the interaction of both interurban and urban contexts. BRAIN-TRAINS also focuses on freight transport, but the interaction with passenger transport is evident, as they mostly use the same network, and many policy instruments (e.g. infrastructure construction, road pricing,...) impact on both transport segments.

Conclusions

25 conclusions and recommendations are derived from the BRAIN-TRAINS research:

1: A minimum load factor has to be ensured, if a rail freight service is to be provided, in order to fully exploit the economies of scale.

2: Rail subsidies are indispensable and a framework is needed to optimize their offering.

3: Tackling the long transit and terminal handling times of intermodal transport by increasing the freight traffic priority and optimizing the terminals' operations (e.g. developing a pool of containers).

4: Focus on environmental objectives to increase the market share of intermodal rail transport

5: Increase the load factor of trucks for drayage operations to improve the efficiency and market share of intermodal rail transport and to reduce the high drayage costs.

6: In the context of flow consolidation, favor the collaboration, cooperation and sharing of transport resources through innovative commercial strategies and technical tools to increase the intermodal market share.

7: Adapt the policy decisions in future road taxes on motorways so as to reflect the real level of externalities of each mode to favor intermodal rail transport.

8: Increase the energy efficiency of freight transport.

9: Increase load factors in freight transport.

10: Improve the emission technology of the vehicles used in freight transport.

11: Use alternative fuels like biodiesel.

12: Use low-sulphur fuels.

13: Increase the share of electric trains in the Belgian traction mix.

14: Enhance the electricity supply mix used by electric trains.

15: Consider the regulatory body as a key lever to manage the IM and the market.

16: Make the network better performing from an economic and technical point of view by a better monitoring from the Federal State (increase capacity, reduce access charges).

17: Make a European Agency for Economic Regulation.

18: Set-up a competition authority.

19: Continue to invest, but in the right things.

20: Collaborative business development should be the next trend.

21: Data collection and analysis as fuel for improved rail freight operations and innovations.

22: Integrate federal and regional intermodal freight transport policies into an interfederal long term vision and plan.

23: Make the co-creation of (interfederal) intermodal freight transport policies more effective and innovation-oriented by applying the steps for policy integration.

24: Make the jointly agreed policies for intermodal freight transport into reality by fostering administrative coordination and implementation within and between governments.

25: Consider institutional changes to increase the performance of the system.

Keywords

Rail freight intermodality, operations and networks, economic impact, environmental impact, regulation and competition, policy-making and administration

1. INTRODUCTION

BRAIN-TRAINS deals with rail freight intermodality, and the extent to which it can be made successful, under market, society and policy-making challenges, and analyzing how intermodality contributes to answering these challenges. Starting point is the relatively weak usage of this type of transport. The research builds on existing knowledge, integrating, and approaching the problem from an interdisciplinary perspective. It tackles five issues which both scientifically, for the sector and for policy-makers are still unresolved. Scientifically, because till present, most research deals with the individual modes of transport, but hardly ever is the chain perspective taken and translated into measurement, calculation and indicator analysis. For the sector, as the individual modes are still very much fragmented and working in isolated ways, also geographically: country borders are real obstacles to the well-functioning of international transport, especially by rail. Finally, also for policymakers, as competences and responsibilities are spread over a multitude of ministries, departments and agencies, not only at the same level, but also at different levels (EU, national, regional, municipal). The latter is of key importance to the Belgian Federal government and hence also to BELSPO in providing supportive research: that government is in charge of rail transport, and also of its still national rail freight operator, but at the same depends on the policies from governments at international (EU) and regional level. Integrating and co-ordinating that is they key challenge to be dealt with. It is also the only way to reach the objectives which the Federal government has put itself, as the ones imposed by for instance the EU but also the ambitions of for instance the Belgian regions.

The research starts by analyzing the current status of intermodality, including success factors and barriers. Main inputs to that are scientific and sector literature, and time series on the use of intermodal transport. Equally, the research assesses the major future related initiatives and challenges. This is executed for each issue's strengths and competences, so that a more complete picture of future development is achieved. Both the success factors/barriers and initiatives/challenges inputs are used to build scenarios of future market, policy and intra-sector rail freight transport development. This gives an overview of the most likely scenarios of future development, which are used for the further analysis. Subsequently, five work packages model and quantify outcomes and impacts for each of the scenarios.

A first quantification track involves simulating the optimal setup of national and international intermodal rail freight corridors, taking into account government roles and incentives. Use is made in that analysis of cost functions that deal simultaneously with the modes of transport as such, but also with transfer points. As part of the analysis, cost differences between the different intermodal solutions and also a comparison with road-only solutions are calculated.

Second, the economic track estimates the direct and indirect impact on the national economy that establishing optimized rail freight transport can have, through job creation and value added. Depending on the setup, the direct and indirect impact on the economy may be larger or smaller. A micro-level analysis is applied to the rail freight operators in Belgium for the direct impact. A more advanced type of input-output analysis is applied to approximate the indirect impact on sector level.

Third, it is tested how each of the scenarios contributes to environmental and social sustainability. To do that, a Life Cycle Approach is used. For each of the scenarios, the scope of the life cycle is determined, and the impacts are quantified. Environmental impacts are crucial in the analysis, as transport remains one of the big sources of air pollution, and the improvement targets that among other the European Commission imposes are drastic.

Fourth, the need for and options of regulation are assessed. Regulation can be crucial, especially as the rail market turns more and more into an oligopolistic or even near-monopolistic one, at least for certain product types. Allocating the available capacity in an equitable way is important for the price and service offered to the users. The level of economies of scale, the optimal number of operators, and the required type and level of regulation are analysed for each scenario.

Finally, the fifth track models how public administration and policy making should be organized and coordinated to optimally implement rail freight development and intermodality in each scenario. A transition problem requires good interaction and co-ordination between the relevant ministries and departments at different levels. This track searches for the optimal level of interaction for different contexts and environments.

The five tracks compose a truly interdisciplinary approach, with interlinkages and mutual inputs, and with feedback scenario loops among them. This provides governments realistic approaches to future developments. The output is useful not only in a Belgian context, but has scientific merits which are also applicable in other contexts, both as to the methods and techniques developed, as to the types of scenario applications made. The lessons learned and methods developed can for instance be applied also to measure economic and environmental impact for other economic activity sectors, to optimize regulatory setups, and to create a suitable government interaction and co-ordination framework.

BRAIN-TRAINS also develops indicators. These should support users in an easy way to measure developments for each of the domains involved in the research, and get a view on where action is required. The scientific methods applied result for each of the identified domains in existing, adapted or newly created types of indicators.

The data and sources that BRAIN-TRAINS taps from, are essentially existing sources which are available free of charge. Furthermore, maximum interaction is sought with stakeholders in governments at various levels, but also with transport sector members, shippers, associations, etc. BRAIN-TRAINS used a Delphi-technique approach, with a panel of experts, interviews, workshops, round tables, and involvement in the follow-up committee that guided the project. The follow-up committee judged on key processes and deliverables throughout the project duration.

In this way, BRAIN-TRAINS is able to answer the transition involved in transportation, linked to economic, social and environmental challenges, which among others the Belgian Federal government is explicitly encouterig. Authorities should get insight into what role they should take and how best, so that the challenges can be met, ambition targets achieved, and the full economic and social benefits of transportation can materialize.

2. STATE OF THE ART AND OBJECTIVES

Transport is critical for Europe's economic competitiveness and commercial exchange. The Common Transport Policy, set out in the European Commission's White Papers on Transport, with the last version dating back only to 2011, establishes ambitious objectives, seeking to achieve an efficient and sustainable balance between the various transport modes, to the benefit of commercial transport users and society at large. In contrast to this policy objective, the dominant freight transport mode by far is road transport, with a market share of 76.4% in Europe in 2010 (as compared to 73.7% in 2000), and 69.5% in Belgium (as compared to 77.4% in 2000). Even though there is an improvement to be observed in Belgium, there is still ample spare capacity for the so-called alternative transport modes, being rail, inland navigation and pipelines as far as freight is concerned. The issue is how to increase their market share significantly so that the objectives of the Commission's latest White Paper can be achieved and Belgium can fully insert itself within and comply with this European policy.

Reaching the above can be considered a real societal transition as it requires fundamental innovations both at the production (technological) side and the consumption side. A central question is how to govern cross-cutting policies between different ministries, agencies within and between government levels in order to yield an efficient and effective achievement of the set policy goals. In this project, the transition towards more intermodal freight transport, both in terms of needed operational policy changes, changes in regulation and changes in governance are studied. In addition, it is taking into account social and environmental challenges. Such transitions do not only need new choices and actions in transport policies across the different subsectors, but also need to be backed-up by accompanied policy measures and choices in fiscal policies, environmental policies, economic policies as well as spatial planning policies.

BRAIN-TRAINS' main goal is to develop a blue print establishing the detailed criteria and conditions for developing an innovative intermodal network in and through Belgium as part of the Trans-European Transport Network (TEN-T). More concretely, the project develops an operational framework (incorporating the required criteria and conditions) within which effective intermodal transport can be successfully established and within which all stakeholders can have beneficial participation and commitment. Focus is put on rail freight transport, within an intermodal context, hence taking rail developments at the focus. The proposal also tackles the interaction of both interurban and urban contexts. BRAIN-TRAINS also focuses on freight transport, but the interaction with passenger transport is evident, as they mostly use the same network, and many policy instruments (e.g. infrastructure construction, road pricing,...) impact on both transport segments.

In this section of the report, the choices for each work package (WP) will be explained and how this led to the definition of the scientific objective for each WP separately. The state of the art for each issue at international level is linked to its social and political problems within the scope of federal competences.

In **WP2**, we drew insights about the influence of the costs, the externalities and other relevant operational parameters of transport on the repartition of the flows and modal split over a freight transport network. A strategic and a tactical planning horizon are considered as the outline of this study. The research analyzes a number of parameters that have been identified as significant managerial and policy levers – according to the conducted SWOT analysis – and come up with recommendations that could contribute to enhancing the market position of intermodal transport and achieve more balanced modal splits across the EU.

The first developed multi-modal network models that were able to handle intermodal flows appeared in the early 1990s (Caris et al., 2013). Since then, the terminal design and infrastructure network configuration have particularly received increased attention (Caris et al., 2008). Geographic information system (GIS)-based decision support models have also been developed to test the impact of different policy measures on the stimulation of intermodal transport (e.g., introducing new terminals and subsidies in Macharis and Pekin (2009) and increasing fuel prices and internalising external costs in Macharis et al. (2010).

Among the decisions to make related to intermodal transport, the correct location of intermodal terminals is of is of strategic importance in terms of intermodal competitiveness in relation to road (Mostert and Limbourg, 2016). Indeed, the location of intermodal terminals leads to specific flow distributions between modes of transport. GIS-based models (Macharis and Pekin, 2009, Macharis et al., 2010, Meers and Macharis, 2014) or tools of the operations research domain can be used to identify the effect of different freight transportation policies on the flow distribution between several modes of transport. In optimization, network design models are used at the strategic level to determine the flow distribution between road and intermodal transport, as well as the location of intermodal terminals. Most studies focus on the minimization of operational costs on the network (for instance Arnold et al. 2004, Racunica and Wynter, 2005, Limbourg and Jourquin, 2009, Limbourg and Jourquin, 2010, Ishfaq and Sox, 2011, Sörensen et al., 2012, Sörensen and Vanovermeire, 2013, Ghane-Ezabadi and Vergara, 2016); however, some models also concentrate on CO_2 emissions (Mostert et al., 2017a) or on generalized costs of transport, including transport externalities (lannone, 2012, Zhang et al., 2013, Santos et al., 2015, Zhang et al., 2015, Mostert et al., 2017b).

More recently, SteadieSeifi et al. (2014) noted that tactical-level issues have been accorded an increasing importance; these problems typically involve an optimal utilization of the given infrastructure by choosing services and associated transport modes, allocating their capacities to orders, and planning their itineraries and frequency. The issue of freight consolidation becomes particularly relevant for tactical service network planning, as demands of multiple customers simultaneously share the same 'vehicle'. Crainic (2000) presents a generic framework for service network design in freight transport. A more recent review of service network design formulations, incorporating different decisions, such as service frequency, mode and routing, is considered by Wieberneit, 2008.

Several assets (alternatively, resources) are involved in operating services, e.g., tractors, locomotives, trailers, loading/unloading units and crews. They are available at costs and with limited quantities, which requires, in most cases, an optimal management. Design balance constraints are typically used to balance the number of asset units entering and leaving each terminal/node. They are applied in most design models addressing air and maritime transport issues (e.g., Barnhart and Schneur, 1996; Lai and Lo, 2004) and, in a more limited presence for land-based transport carriers (e.g., Perennes, 2014; Andersen et al., 2009b). Arc- and cycle-based formulations are usually considered, within a time-dependent service network design problem. Andersen et al., 2009a show, by a computational study, that the formulations based on cycle design variables may be solved faster than the formulations based on arc design variables.

In **WP3**, the aim is to draw insights about the influence of rail freight transport, its development and the usage within an intermodal context, on the evaluation and evolution of job creation, national output creation and value added. Direct and indirect economic effects are considered as the outline of this study.

Freight transport and related sectors achieve competitive advantage through high productivity, flexible and customer-oriented approach. Measures directed to freight transport affect/influence to a greater or lesser extent the rest of the economy. This direct and indirect strategic value does not always come in the direct economic value of the transportation, but is for many businesses and sectors also a reason to be and to remain active in a particular region or country. To determine and quantify this influence it is not enough to know direct and indirect effects of freight transport: also a quantification of the strategic significance of the sector is necessary.

As a state of the art, a useful cost comparison, both to operations and to society, of using intermodal transfer points in port hinterland connections is made by Lannone (2012), be it limited to the region immediately surrounding the port.

To quantify the strategic direct and indirect effects, the methodology that TNO developed for road freight transport at the request of AVV and DGV of Rijkswaterstaat (Kuipers et al., 2005) is often used. Hereby, a theoretical model is designed that reproduces the most important relationships responsible for freight transport growth. The model can relate physical performances in freight traffic, for instance traffic performances and transported tonnage, with the development of value added in the sector in monetary units. The method distinguishes between two parts. Direct strategic value of freight transport: the strategic value that is experienced by the customer (shipper/producer, merchant or retail chain), but not always possible to be expressed in economic value (in EURO's). Indirect strategic value of intermodal freight transport: the radiations effects that a strong intermodal transport sector has on the economy and society as whole.

Economic value is expressed by the physical and monetary effects of policy measures. Direct effects of transport decisions and investments are often calculated by a classical cost-benefit analysis approach. However, Mouter et al. (2012) and Beukers et al. (2012) indicate the weakness of such approach due to the absence or underestimation of the indirect economic effects. In addition to the social costs and benefits, also indirect effects should be taken into account, which exist because the economic sectors are interrelated due to which changes in demand and supply in one sector ignite a ripple effect throughout the rest of the economy (Coppens et al. 2005).

Therefore, input-output analysis is sometimes used to approximate indirect effects at sectoral level within a national economy. Such input-output analysis is performed on port activities by Coppens et al. (2007), who made an application to ports and their hinterland linkage.

In terms of indicators for direct impact, Vennix (2017) uses added value, employment and investments to estimate the economic importance of air transport and airport activities in Belgium over the period 2013 – 2015. For road freight transport, Kuipers et al. (2005) focus solely on the added value of the sector to analyse its economic importance. Looking at maritime and port-related studies, Peeters et al. (2002) and Coppens et al. (2007) are addressing the importance of an economic consideration when making development decisions for port expansion or port improvement. This consideration needs to be supported by the use of economic parameters such as 'added value' and 'employment', in order to analyse the impact on the economy as a whole. SERV (2009) uses the parameters 'added value' and 'employment' to assess the impact of the financial and economic crisis on the Belgian economy. Finally, also Meersman et al. (2012) focus on employment and added value within their Indicator Book to assess the importance of the different freight sectors within the Flemish economy.

The research carried out within the framework of **WP 4** implies several stages.

In a first stage, we analyse the environmental impacts of rail freight transport (distinguishing between electric and diesel traction), inland waterways transport and road freight transport independently. Moreover, a comparison between the environmental impacts of these inland freight transport modes is to performed. It should be noted that as the study of the different scenarios progresses and new data are collected, the method used improves and therefore the results can be updated.First, the results in energy consumption, direct emissions and impact assessment are explained (Merchan et al., 2017a). Afterwards, the results in rail freight transport and road freight transport can be updated (Merchan et al., 2017b). This is because the information collected on railway infrastructure are fully modelled and the values of energy consumption in road transport are revised as a results of enhanced load factors. Finally, the results in impact assessment of road freight transport are updated again (Merchan et al., 2018) as a result of the improvement in the method of calculating road infrastructure demand.

In a second stage we carry out a study of the environmental impacts related to intermodal rail freight transport. For this, we study three consolidated intermodal rail-road routes in Belgium (Merchan et al., 2017b). The objective of this analysis is to compare the environmental impacts of these intermodal routes depending on the freight transport mode chosen (rail or road transport) for the major part of the intermodal route.

In a third stage, we analyse how the increase of rail freight transport as a result of the possible development of the intermodal rail freight transport affects the environmental impacts of the modal split of inland freight transport in Belgium. For this, we study an increase of rail demand by 133%, 64% or 10% for a best, medium and worst case scenarios (Merchan et al., 2018).

WP5 provides a new framework and tools to assess the competition in the Belgian rail freight market. It is based on a disaggregate analysis to improve knowledge about the players and their strategies. To give a comprehensive overview of the market and its dynamics, the market scope is extended from the Belgian market to the Western European market considering that more than 70% of the rail freight traffic are crossing the boundary (Eurostat, 2016).

Until the railway liberalization, the academic literature was usually considering the EU rail freight market as segmented and concentrated with strong national incumbents. The most popular approach is to measure and compare the efficiency of each national operator on its respective network.

A large body of literature has been developed in the United States to measure the efficiency of each operator on its network (Caves et al, 1980 and 1981; Oum and Yu, 1994; Sloboda, 2004) and to assess the effects of diverse external/internal shocks like deregulation (Baumol and Willig, 1983), mergers (Berndt et al., 1993; Schmidt, 2001) or economies of scale (Caves et al., 1987; Wheat and Smith, 2010). Different methods are used to measure efficiency, from a simple approach like Data Envelopment Analysis (Oum et al., 1999) to a more complex analysis, like a translog cost function. In Europe, the literature is more recent, from the 1990s and the beginning of the liberalization by the European commission (91/440/EEC). A lot of research has been produced and based on a similar analytical framework than for the USA, using the assumption that each incumbent operates on its market as a monopolist (De Borger, 1992; Cantos and Maudos, 2001; Friebel et al., 2010). The difference is that the European analysis is most of the time mixed between passenger and freight according to the structure of the incumbents, whereas the US analysis is generally specific to the freight market because of a strong specialization of the operators in this sector.

As opposed to this, few market analyses have been produced in the USA or the EU to assess competition on the rail freight market in open access, and most of them are recent. In the USA, McCullough (2007) uses a concentration indicator (Herfindahl–Hirschman index), but this is done to assess the general efficiency of the market and not to go in depth through a competition analysis. In Europe, studies try to assess the EU competition for rail freight, but all of them are either at a very aggregated level (Beck et al., 2013; Crozet et al., 2014; ECA, 2016) or when there is a disaggregated analysis (firm level), it is limited to a specific national market (Deville and Verduyn, 2012; Laisi et al., 2012; Van de Voorde and Vanelslander, 2014; Woodburn, 2014) or at the single firm level (Gasparic et al., 2009, Vierth, 2011).

There is no comprehensive competition analyses in the academic literature for the European rail freight industry. This is most likely because of the recent evolution of the market but also the difficulties to get data from operators. The WP 5 proposes a first application of such firm-level approach to the European rail freight market. This approach is well-known and has been tested in several sectors like banking (Bikker and Haaf, 2002; Bos and Schmiedel, 2007) or the maritime industry (Sys, 2010).

WP6 is focusing on governance and organization for the development of rail freight strategies and intermodality. Intermodal freight transport policies are cross-cutting and complex in nature, as designing and developing such policies demand the involvement and actions from different levels of government (EU, federal and regional) and from different policy sectors (mobility, public works, fiscal policies, economic policies, environmental policies...). Central in the governance of cross-cutting policies is the issue of coordination or integration (Head 2008). Studies on coordination of government policy have for long remained limited. However, governments increasingly face complex, cross-cutting and wicked policy issues, while traditional departmentalism and administrative reforms like agencification have made their administrative apparatus increasingly fragmented and because of Europeanization and decentralization multiple levels of government became involved.

As governments increasingly focus on the coordination of policies across policy sector and organizational boundaries, the academic literature have expanded accordingly in the recent years, using different labels as policy and administrative coordination (Bouckaert et al., 2010; Cejudo & Michel, 2017; Egeberg & Trondal, 2016; Lægreid, Sarapuu, Rykkja, & Randma-Liiv, 2014; Peters, 2018); horizontal management (Peters, 2015); policy integration (Candel & Biesbroek, 2016; Tosun & Lang, 2017); cross-agency or intragovernmental collaboration (O'Flynn, 2008; Wilkins, Phillimore, & Gilchrist, 2017); boundary spanning policy regimes (May, Jochim, & Sapotichne, 2011; Trein, 2017) and more practitioner-based concepts like holistic government, joined-up government (Bogdanor, 2005; Carey, Mcloughlin, et al., 2015; Karré et al., 2013) and whole-of-government (Carayannopoulos, 2017; Christensen, Lægreid, 2007; Trein, Meyer & Maggetti, forthcoming). Furthermore, there is an emerging literature on how governments deal with current cross-cutting challenges like the financial crisis, the related budgetary austerity, risks like global epidemia (e.g. bird flu), terrorism and internal security, and climate change (Czarniawska 2009; Boin and 't Hart 2010), but also persistent cross-cutting challenges like poverty reduction or minority integration.

The expanding body of literature on coordination and policy/administrative integration (see Bouckaert et al., 2010; Candel & Biesbroek, 2016; Tosun & Lang, 2017; Trein, Meyer, & Maggetti, forthcoming) studies how actors at the center of government try to ensure this by designing coordination arrangements that intervene on two levels: the institutional level (e.g. culture, rules of the game, and interdependencies) and the instrumental level of structure and processes (Carey, Mcloughlin, & Crammond, 2015; Christensen, Danielsen, Laegreid, & Rykkja, 2016; Klijn & Koppenjan, 2016).

However, studies remain limited in several aspects. First, the impact of specific coordination arrangements on the creation and realization of integrated and innovative policies is understudied. The limited evaluation studies, however, show an often modest impact upon the policy processes and outcomes (Candel & Biesbroek, 2016; Tosun & Lang, 2017). Moreover, although more studies nowadays move beyond the structural aspects of coordination arrangements and the literature on collaborative governance, network management and collaborative innovation deals with how one can foster policy integration and administrative integration through the use of collaborative processes and network management instruments¹, there is a lack of in-depth studies on the functionality of these processes and managerial instruments and how they results in better integrated and innovative policies which are jointly developed by the involved actors (e.g. Agger and Sørensen, 2016; Termeer and Nooteboom, 2014; Doberstein, 2015) (see for a full argumentation: Stevens 2018a). Overall, knowledge about how the processes and design of collaboration has a impact is relatively underdeveloped (Ansell and Torfing, 2014: 238-239; see Stevens 2018a: 15). Moreover the use of inferential social network analysis in such studies is hereto very limited, despite the relevance of this innovative method. Third, such studies on policy and administrative integration in the field of intermodal freight transport are largely absent.

This study adds to these limitations in the literature by studying in-depth cases of policy and administrative integration, with attention for the processes, instruments and structures used and their functionality. Moreover multiple methods are used, like interviews, questionnaires and inferential social network analysis. Lastly, the study results in relevant insights and recommendations and toolboxes regarding processes, instruments and institutional changes for more optimal intermodal freight transport policies.

Please note that in the study the term 'integration' is used which is linked to the coordination of policies and administrative actions. With the term 'integration', we mean 'the (stable) relationships and interdependencies that exist among a multitude of organizations within a particular policy subsystem ' (Stead and Meijers , 2009). An important distinction that has to be made for this study is the difference between 'policy-level integration' and 'administrative integration'.

Policy-level integration refers to the extent to which policy-makers try to create greater coherence in decision-making for issues that transcend the boundaries of established policy fields, and which do not correspond to the institutional responsibilities of individual departments (Stead and Meijers , 2009. Administrative integration, then, denotes the extent to which involved administrative actors (together with private or privatized companies, civil society organizations, etc.) streamline practices and activities in the policy implementation phase (Mulford and Rogers, 1982).

3. METHODOLOGY

In this section the implementation of the chosen, adapted or developed methodologies for each of the five issues will be summarized. Special attention is given to data implications.

WP 2 created two models. For the first model, the developed methodology is based on an intermodal network design model. The considered research problem belongs to the strategic

BRAIN-be (Belgian Research Action through Interdisciplinary Networks)

¹. Such a view on the use of management in collaborative policy innovation networks is understood by certain scholars as metagovernance (Meuleman, 2008: 70; Voets et al., 2015: 3). Sørensen and Torfing (2005: 202), for example, define metagovernance as, "the endeavour to regulate self-steering policy networks (or collaborative networks) by shaping the conditions under which they operate." (Stevens 2018a: 15).

decision horizon, tacking long-term planning issues from the economic and environmental perspective. The model allows optimizing two main kinds of objectives. The first one relates to economic aspects, trying to generate the minimum total operational transportation costs on the road and intermodal networks. The second objective that can be optimized relates to environmental concerns. The objective is then to find the solution that minimizes the total amount of specific emitted air pollutants or external costs.

Using the developed mathematical model, the impact on the modal split of several policies translated into scenarios can be evaluated. Scenarios are constructed based on the elements of the SWOT analysis that have been identified as the most relevant issues to tackle by experts in the field (Troch et al., 2017).

The main input parameters of the formulation are the location of the existing intermodal terminals on the Belgian case study, the distances (in km) between two nodes (each node representing a NUTS3 region) using a specific mode of transport (road, rail or IWW), the cargo aggregated demand for one year between the nodes of the origin/destination matrix (in t), the costs/emissions/external costs values (in \in or t of pollutants) for the transportation and transhipment of goods between modes, as well as the potential subsidies/taxes (in \notin /tkm) imposed on certain modes by public authorities. The output values consist of the flow repartition (in tkm) between road, intermodal with rail, and intermodal with IWW transport.

For the second model, the developed methodology is based on a service network design model. The considered research problem belongs to the tactical decision horizon, tackling mediumterm planning issues from the economic perspective of a typical transport operator. The market is assumed to be composed of shippers with demands to be delivered over the network. The decisions are two-fold: the operating frequencies of the services during the planning period - typically, a week - and the optimal routing of the demands over service-based itineraries. The objective is to deliver the demands in a cost-minimization manner, where the costs are divided into a fixed and a variable component to run the services and transport the goods over them, respectively. The model is designed to suit a general multi-modal framework; a service is defined by a transport mode, in addition to its origin-destination node pair, and thus corresponds to a physical arc in the network.

Mathematically, the proposed mixed-integer program extends the classical static path-based multicommodity formulation, originally introduced in Crainic (200)0 in the general freight transport context, and later re-considered in Crainic and Kim (2007) for intermodal transport. A static case is assumed throughout the decision process, in terms of the shipping demands, as well as the underlying physical network, including the terminals' locations. The model is further developed to incorporate scheduled services and basic resource-balancing constraints at the terminals: design aspects that are relevant for long-corridor freight transport.

Based on the realized SWOT analysis in Troch et al., 2015, an exhaustive list of elements has been identified, analyzed and, lastly, translated into a number of quantifiable scenarios. They comprise the most plausible future events affecting the development of intermodal transport. The design is performed according to three levels: best-, worst- and middle-case scenario Troch et al., 2017, in a direct linkage to the goals set by the White Paper of the European Commission (2011). A point of reference is taken to be the present day. The scenarios are examined by the methodological means of the developed service network design models, essentially from a costs' perspective. The models are invoked on real-world data instances, with a strong emphasis on freight transport in and through Belgium. The potential correlations between the foreseen changes in the transport modes' operating costs, market demands and road taxes, on one side, and the competitiveness of intermodal transport, on the other, are thoroughly investigated. Nevertheless, a set of basic assumptions will remain constant in all scenarios. In particular, we consider an underlying physical network that comprises three modes of transportation: road, rail and inland waterways. A service, in our notion, is defined by its origin, destination, transport mode and departure day of the week, while an intermodal itinerary is formed of at most three service legs. The network is assumed to be fully connected in terms of all-road/trucking services, making it feasible to accommodate the whole set of shippers' demands.

Among the scenario parameters, we distinctly consider the following inputs:

- Infrastructure and maintenance costs of the operating services, in terms of a fixed and variable component.
- Road taxes.
- Origin-Destination matrix of flows over the network.

The model computes in return the following outputs:

- Modal split, in terms of tkm.
- Consequent intermodal market share.

WP 3 performed a direct and indirect analysis on economic impact. For the direct impact analysis, a micro-level analysis methodology was used to develop three economic indicators based on Vanstraelen (2005).

A first indicator (1) to evaluate the direct economic contribution of a company is the added value per full-time equivalent employee (FTE):

$$Added \ value \ per \ FTE = \frac{Added \ value \ (EUR)}{Average \ workforce \ (FTE)}$$
(1)

A second indicator (2) to assess the productivity of a company is the added value per production unit. For the rail freight sector, production units can be expressed in tonkilometers (tkm) or trainkilometers (trainkm). Within the research the main production value is expressed in tkm:

Added value per production unit =
$$\frac{Added \text{ value (EUR)}}{Total \text{ production (tkm)}}$$
(2)

A last indicator (3) is the added value range of a company. This indicator calculates the contribution of added value to the production value expressed in revenue. This is reflecting the level of vertical integration of a company, or the level of ownership over the established production.

$$Added \ value \ range = \frac{Added \ value}{production \ value \ (revenue \ in \ EUR)}$$
(3)

Van de Voorde and Sys (2017) define added value as the sum of labour costs, depreciations, other costs and operating results and exploitation subsidies. This approach is taking into account the compensation values for production factors such as labour and capital, in order to obtain the estimated added value as a reward for taking part in the company's production process. Alternatively, Peeters et al. (2002) define added value as the difference between the value of the produced outputs and the value of the required inputs for this production. These definitions indicate that added value at a company level estimates the monetary amount that is added to purchased

services and goods by adding production factors such as labour and capital. Therefore, employment is also an integral part of added value. Both approaches are followed and compared in this research.

To calculate these economic indicators, the added value of a company needs to be estimated. In the research four different approaches are explored. Two main methods are the bottom-up approach and the top-down approach, following the definitions of Van de Voorde and Sys (2017) and Peeters et al. (2002). The bottom-up approach is accumulating the retribution values for the different production factors to obtain the added value. The operational profit is an integral part of the created added value by the company. However this does not mean that a positive added value goes hand in hand with a positive operational profit, as also the gross wages, rent and interest are taken into account (Welten, 1996). Depreciation values for replacing capital factors such as buildings and machines should be added to obtain the gross added value. When the added value is corrected for price increasing taxes and price lowering subsidies, the net added value is obtained in factor costs or market prices (Bloemen, 2017). Contrary to the bottom-up approach, the top-down approach is not summing the different components of added value, but starts from the total operating income and subtracts all elements that are not a part of the added value creation (NBB, 2007). In addition, two alternative top-down approaches are evaluated: a simplified top-down calculation presented by Van Dijk (2017) and an adapted top-down calculation.

In order to calculate the added value and the corresponding economic indicators, data collection is necessary. Before liberalization in 2010, Rail freight services were part of the public NMBS group. This national main organization captured also all passenger services and infrastructure maintenance on the Belgian rail network. Only general estimations exist for operational freight costs and freight revenues. After liberalization, rail freight services were split from the national group and started to publish their own annual accounts. As of this year, detailed information can be collected from the annual accounts of the incumbent rail freight operator.

For the indirect impact analysis, the input-output methodology is used. This methodology has been developed by the Russian economist Wissily Leontief (Miller & Blair, 2009). The study of indirect economic impact of rail freight transport on the national economy requires using the national input-output tables. The Federal Planning Office (2015) is publishing these national input-output tables every five years. The last version takes into account the input-output tables of 2010 and was published in December 2015. For the analysis, the methodology is adapted to split the rail freight sector from the national land transport sector including all passenger and freight transport activities on land, such as taxi services, metro, rail freight, rail transport, bus transportation, road freight, etc. In a national input-output model, the economy is split into n industries. In this research, the methodology is adapted to convert the existing national input-output model into n+1 industries, based on customer and supplier data of the n+1th industry, in this case the rail freight sector represented by the incumbent rail freight operator in Belgium.

The output of the methodology are multipliers that can be interpreted as indicators on the indirect economic impact of a sector on the national economy. A first indicator is the Leontief multiplier, or a final demand to output multiplier approximating the total effect on the national output created for each increase of final demand of the observed sector by one unit. A second indicator is the Net multiplier, indicating the same effect on the economy for each additional unit of output of the observed sector. The analysis can also be linked to employment figures, resulting in the effect on the total employment of the national economy, for each increase by one unit of output or one additional full-time equivalent employee within the observed sector.

These multipliers should be interpreted with caution, as assumptions are necessary to perform these calculations on the approximated indicators. A first limitation is the difference in

activities that are part of the nature of an organization. Within this research, only the primary activity of an organization is taken into consideration. A second limitation is bound to the obtained data, as this data reflects different years compared to the used national input-output framework. This limitation has been checked for its validity by a sensitivity analysis using raw supply and demand data for the corresponding years to the obtained data. Results from this sensitivity analysis cannot be interpreted as such, but evolutions can be taken into account. A third limitation is the absence of data on subsidies and handling margins, resulting in an overestimation of the final output. And a final limitation is the assumption that no final consumption is taking place for rail freight transport services.

The Life Cycle Assessment (LCA) methodology has been chosen in **WP 4** to analyse the environmental impacts of the intermodal freight transport in Belgium, which includes the LCA of rail freight transport (distinguishing between electric and diesel traction), inland waterways transport and road freight transport.

The LCA methodology allows studying complex systems like freight transport, providing a system perspective analysis that allows assessing environmental impacts through all the stages of the intermodal freight transport system (transport operation, vehicle and infrastructure), from raw material extraction, through materials use, and finally disposal.

Furthermore, the LCA approach allows analysing the overall life cycle of the energy carrier. Thereby, we consider the environmental impacts related to the use of energy (e.g. diesel or electricity) starting from the raw materials extraction (e.g. oil or uranium), continuing with energy generation (e.g. diesel refining or electricity production) and ending with the energy distribution to the traction unit (locomotive, barge or lorry). Besides the assessment of the environmental impacts related to the energy consumption during the transport operation, our LCA study includes the emissions and energy and raw material consumptions from the construction and maintenance of transport infrastructure and the manufacturing and maintenance of transport vehicles. An LCA study comprises four stages.

First, the goal and scope definition. The LCA study carried out within the framework of the WP 4 aims to analyse the environmental impacts of intermodal freight transport in Belgium and the different scenarios developed for the year 2030. The functional unit chosen has been "one tonne-kilometre of freight transported" in the different modes of transport.

The second stage of an LCA is the inventory analysis. Figure 1 presents the stages considered in our study for the rail freight transport, inland waterways transport and road freight transport.



A detailed study of the rail freight transport has been conducted, collecting data directly from Infrabel (the Belgian railway infrastructure manager) and B-Logistics (rebranded to LINEAS, April 2017), which is the main rail freight operator in Belgium. The rail freight system has been divided in three sub-systems: rail transport operation, rail infrastructure and rail equipment (locomotives and wagons).

For the rail transport operation sub-system, the specific energy consumption of electric and diesel trains has been determined separately. Upstream emissions related to the production and distribution of the energy to the traction unit and the direct emissions during the rail transport activity have been determined. In the case of indirect emissions from electric trains, in order to adjust as closely as possible the environmental impact related to the yearly electricity consumption, and since the electricity supply mix varies widely over the years, our LCA study uses the electricity supply mix in Belgium corresponding to the appropriate year. Three types of direct emissions produced during the rail transport operation have be distinguished: the exhaust emissions to air related to the diesel combustion in locomotives, the direct emissions to soil from abrasion of brake linings, wheels and rails and the sulphur hexafluoride (SF6) emissions to air during conversion of electricity at traction substations.

As shown in Figure 2, the subsystem rail infrastructure includes the processes that are connected with the construction, maintenance and disposal of the railway infrastructure. We have collected data from Infrabel and literature sources relative to the Belgian railway infrastructure. This comprises information on the materials and energy used in the construction of the railway network (including track, tunnels and bridges) such as rails, sleepers, fastening systems, switches and crossings, track bedding or overhead contact system for example. The maintenance of the Belgian railway infrastructure has been analysed as well. Therefore, the maintenance works such as rail grinding, rail renewal, sleeper and fastening system renewal, switches and crossing renewal, ballast tamping, ballast renewal, ballast cleaning and weed control are taken into account. We have considered in the maintenance of railway infrastructure both the fuel consumption and exhaust emissions from the machinery used in the maintenance and the new materials used in the track renewal. We have also included in our study the end-of-life of the railway infrastructure and the land use in the Belgian railway network. Most of the elements are recycled such as the ballast that is reused as material for backfill and the wooden sleepers that are incinerated with energy recovery. The life cycle phases of manufacturing, maintenance and disposal of rail equipment (locomotives and wagons) are taken into account in our study as well.



Figure 2. Life Cycle Assessment of the railway infrastructure

In the case of both inland waterways transport and road transport in Belgium, the Ecoinvent V3.1 database has been used as a model (Weidema et al., 2013). Analogously to the rail transport system, for the LCA of inland waterways transport, all life cycle phases of inland waterways transport operation, inland waterways infrastructures (including canals and the Port of Antwerp), and manufacturing and maintenance of the barge are included. Information relative to the total annual freight moved by inland waterways transport in Belgium by barge type, fuel consumption in the vessel transport operation and waterways infrastructure characteristics for several years have been collected. For the LCA of road transport, all life cycle phases of road transport operation, road infrastructure, and manufacturing and maintenance of the lorry are included. Information relative to the total annual freight moved by road transport in Belgium by weight classification and heavy duty vehicle technology type, fuel consumption in the road transport operation and road infrastructure characteristics for several years have been collected.

The third stage is the impact assessment. The LCA methodology allows modelling in a quantitative and multi-criteria way the environmental impacts of all relevant pollutant emissions and energy and material consumptions in numerous midpoint environmental impact categories, such as climate change, particulate matter emissions, photochemical ozone depletion or human toxicity for example. Then, as can be seen in Figure 3, the influence of these midpoint categories to endpoint categories such as damage to human health, damage to ecosystem diversity and resource scarcity can be evaluated. These endpoint categories are related to the areas of protection of human health, natural environment and natural resources, respectively (European Commission, 2010). All calculations in our study have been made with the SimaPro 8.0.5 software using the Life Cycle Impact Assessment (LCIA) method "ILCD 2011 Midpoint+" (version V1.06 / EU27 2010), which is the method recommended by the European Commission (European Commission, 2010). "ILCD 2011 Midpoint+" is a midpoint method including 16 environmental impact indicators.



Figure 3. Diagram of the LCA methodology applied on inland freight transport Environmental mechanism

The fourth stage is the assessment of the results obtained in the previous stages.

The methodology for **WP5** is based on two classical approaches used to analyse the market structure (Lipczynski *et al.*, 2013): the static and the dynamic approaches. Each approach is characterized by a large panel of indicators. The selection of the following indicators has been done according to the available data.

The static approach is useful to give a picture of the level of concentration on the market. Traditional measures are the number of firms and the distribution of the size of firms on the market (Sys, 2010). Indicators used to measure the level of concentration are traditionally split in two kinds of measures: absolute and relative concentration. Unfortunately, because of an imperfect information on the market, only the absolute concentration can be measured.

The absolute concentration is usually measured by four indicators: the n-firm concentration ratio (CR), the Herfindahl-Hirschman index (HHI), the Hannah and Kay index (HKI) and the entropy coefficient. In this study, only the two first are used because of data availability. Indeed, the last two require data for all firms in an industry, while CR and HHI only need data for the biggest firms. The n-firm concentration ratio is a simple indicator to identify the existence of an oligopoly.

$$CRn = \sum_{i=1}^{n} s_i \tag{4}$$

It does not need extended data and is calculated based on the market share (s_i) of the n biggest firms (CR2, CR4 and CR8). CR4 is most often used and considers only the first four companies in the top ranking. When CR4 > 25% of market share, the literature shows the existence of a loose oligopoly (Shepherd, 1999; Martin, 2002). When CR4 > 60%, there is a tight oligopoly with a high risk of over-concentration and collusion between the biggest firms.

The HHI is the usual indicator to have an overview of the level of concentration on the market according to the weight of each firm (squared market share, s_i).

$$HHI = \sum_{i=1}^{n} s_{i}^{2} \times 10,000$$
(5)

There is a monopoly when HHI = 10,000 and a high concentration on the market when HHI > 1,800. (i.e. Shepherd, 1999) Hence, concentration is low when HHI < 1,000.

The dynamic approach gives a time perspective of the market. It is composed by two indicators: the Persistence Of Profit (POP) to assess the degree of competition on short-run and long-run, and the Capital cost/Labor cost ratio (C/L ratio) is used to measure the economies of scale and to give an overview of the market structure of the European rail freight market.

The POP-method has been developed to give a dynamic approach of the firm behaviour on the market (Cable and Mueller, 2008). The indicator measures the firm's standardized profit rate ($\pi_{i,t}^s$) according to firm's profit rate ($\pi_{i,t}$) minus the average industry profit rate ($\overline{\pi}_t$). The standardization (average profit rate of all firms) excludes the macroeconomic effects in so far all firms are affected by the same economic environment.

$$\pi_{i,t}^s = \pi_{i,t} - \overline{\pi}_t \tag{6}$$

On this base, a first-order autoregressive model is formulated and commonly used for each firm as follows:

$$\pi_{i,t}^{s} = \alpha_{i} + \lambda_{i}\pi_{i,t-1}^{s} + \varepsilon_{i,t}$$
⁽⁷⁾

The main interest from this indicator is to test the correlation between the profit rate of one year comparing to the previous year on short-run (λ_i) and long-run ($\pi_{i,t-1}^s$). In the short run, a persistence of profits rate ($\lambda_i > 0$) is a sign of barriers or dominant position driver of abnormal profit (above the norm). But, when $\lambda_i = 0$, there is no persistence of profits (quick erosion), which is a sign of high competition and low barriers in so far as all firms compete on a same and homogeneous market.

In the long run, a positive (negative) α_i can be the sign of a competitive (non-competitive) position for certain firms when their profit rate is above (below) the norm. However, it can be also the sign of a niche market with less competition and high barriers or a strategy from a dominant player to keep market shares (Sys, 2010). The interpretation of $\pi_{i,t-1}^s$ is clearer in the long run according to the degree of convergence between the firm's profit rates. When $\pi_{i,t-1}^s = 0$, firms are limited in their strategy to get abnormal profits because of a high competition and low barriers. Consequently, a convergence between different firm's profit rate is observed. Conversely, when $\pi_{i,t-1}^s \neq 0$, there is lower or no convergence. This is the sign of heterogeneity into the market with high barriers and a niche market where abnormal profits persist.

To resume, the conditions of a perfect competition are found when $\lambda_i = 0$, $\alpha_i = 0$ and $\pi_{i,t-1}^s = 0$ (Lipczynski *et al*, 2013). For other results, values will be discussed according to the existing literature in the next step.

Finally, the capital-labour ratio is computed to assess the level of economies of scale in the ground handling industry (Meersman *et al.*, 2011). This indicator, derived from industrial economics,

has the advantage of being a good substitute to the calculation of the curve of the long run average costs when data are limited and to give some clues about sunk costs or barriers on the market.

$$R = \frac{C}{L}$$
(8)

The capital cost (C) is related to the amortization cost of the material and infrastructures used for production, while the labour cost (L) is related to the cost of employees at full time. The relationship between them can be interpreted as follows. There are economies of scale when R > 0 and no existence when R = 0. Meersman *et al.* (2011) show that an industry with a high intensity of capital has larger economies of scale than an industry with a low intensity. Hence, the capital intensity can be associated to the sunk costs necessaries to enter and operate on the market (cost of material, advertising, research & development, etc.). These costs can differ from one market to another according to the type of goods and services. In the case of the rail freight industry, the main costs are usually those of rolling stock and interoperability (especially for locomotives) or authorization to start a service as license and safety certificate (Laisi *et al.*, 2012).

For the study of the governance and organization of intermodal freight transport policies in **WP6**, the methodological approach that was applied, combined multiple case studies, encompassing extensive document analysis, semi-structured interviews (36 in total), questionnaires as follow-up of interviews, and (inferential) social network analysis techniques.

As a first step, we aimed to get more in-depth knowledge about the current level of policylevel and administrative integration between actors for intermodal freight transport in the federal state of Belgium. The findings resulting from this research step, together with an extensive review of the literature on policy coordination and implementation were used as input for the SWOT in WP1 (see D1.1 - 1.2, part G), as well as in WP6 (WP6.2). Therefore we conducted two case studies, studying initiatives in which the relevant policy-level and administrative actors at both the Federal and regional level of government were involved and needed to work together. First of all, we analyzed the attempt of the Federal Department of Transport and Mobility to establish a holistic government strategy encompassing the different levels of government and policy sectors for sustainable and intermodal mobility and (freight) transport. This policy process already started in 1997 and finished around 2010; however, without a successful result. On the basis of a document analysis and seven interviews with high-ranked policy officials and validated through a BRAIN TRAINS stakeholders' meeting with 25 end users of transport policies, we mapped the actors as well as the development of the case and deduced a list of inhibiting factors in developing this particular holistic government strategy across the different levels of government in the Belgian dualistic federal state (e.g. the competence division, influence from European Union, inclusive communication, etc.) (see also Stevens and Verhoest 2016a).

The first case served as a pilot case. However, because the studied process in the first case ended in 2010, the decision was made to look at a second, more contemporary case to see whether similar research findings come up. Specifically, we studied for this second case the transposal of the EU directive on Intelligent Transport Systems (ITS) of 2010 (2010/40/EC directive) into the dualistic federal system of the Belgian state. ITS-systems are advanced applications which, without embodying intelligence as such, aim to provide innovative services relating to different modes of transport and traffic management and enable various users to be better informed and make safer, more coordinated and 'smarter' use of transport networks (European Union, 2010:L207/1). Insights on the degree of policy-level integration were acquired through a document analysis of relevant policy documents (policy plans, position papers, review reports, progress report, meeting reports, etc.) and interviews. With regard to the level of 'administrative integration' among the actors

involved in the implementation of the policy actions of the EU ITS-directive, we use Social Network Analysis (SNA) on the implementation projects as reported in the Progress report of 2014, in order to uncover to what extent administrative actors from different governmental levels and policy domains cooperate. SNA is a method designed for investigating social structures through the use of network and graph theories (Scott, 1991). SNA is a method designed for investigating interaction networks, both the actors and their mutual relations, through the use of network and graph theories (Scott, 1991). For the analysis, we used the UCINET software program.

The findings of these two case studies showed that in order to achieve the best case scenario (and – albeit to a lesser extent the medium case scenario) actors at both levels of governments need to strive for a high extent of policy-level and administrative integration. In order to come to recommendations of how such high levels of policy and administrative integration can be achieved jointly by the involved governments, we conducted three clusters of research activities as part of WP6 and its sub activities.

First, as achieving the best case scenario necessitates that actors at the involved different governmental levels design new and integrative policy strategies for intermodal freight transport jointly, we decided to develop a toolbox for such policy integration, which elaborates the relevant process steps and managerial techniques (see for this toolbox: D6.4, section 4.1). Therefore, we combined a review of the academic literature on how coordinators or network managers can optimally facilitate collaborative policy design networks (see e.g. Milward and Provan, 2006; Klijn and Koppenjan, 2004; Agranoff, 2006; Sørensen and Torfing, 2012; Torfing, 2017), with two in-depth case studies of more successful network initiatives designing innovative and integrative policies across policy domains and governmental levels in a collaborative way. These case studies combined extensive document analysis, as well as semi-structured interview followed by a pretested survey with standardized questions and with each of the representatives in both networks (in total 25 interviews and surveys). The data analysis included, besides the analysis of the process, the actors and their resources they brought into the process, the meta-governance by the coordination also an analysis of the (cooperative and learning) interactions between the representatives in these networks, by the use of social network analysis. The observed interaction patterns between the representatives and the organisations involved in both networks were explained by the use of Exponential Random Graph Modelling (ERGM) which is an innovative way to study collaborative policy design networks (see for the methodological argumentation, Stevens and Verhoest 2016b). Both case studies were selected based on the successfulness of the collaborative policy design process and the number and kind of involved actors. Due to a lack of successful cases within transport policy, both cases were selected on adjacent policy fields which face similar complex constellation of involved actors and similar levels of political salience (spatial planning/environment) (see for extensive case study analyses and findings: Stevens 2017a; Stevens and Agger 2017b; Stevens 2017c; Stevens 2018b; Stevens and Dorren 2017).

Second, achieving the best case scenario additionally necessitates a strong coordination between the involved administrative actors from the different policy domains and governmental levels, or, stated differently, a high level of administrative integration. In order to develop a toolbox and recommendations regarding administrative integration (see for this toolbox, D 6.4 section 4.2), we combined insights from the previously mentioned case studies, with insights arising from an extensive review on the literature of administrative coordination/integration and previous and other empirical research by the involved researchers on coordination between public and private organisations in service provision, regulation, and policy implementation (see e.g. Six and Verhoest 2017; Mathieu, Verhoest and Matthys 2017; Voets, Verhoest and Molenveld 2015; Molenveld 2016; Aubin and Verhoest 2014; Bouckaert, Peters, and Verhoest 2010; Verhoest and Bouckaert 2005).

Third, achieving the best case scenario and in order to optimise performance of intermodal policies, requires also the reconsideration of the institutional set-up and organization of such policies at both national and EU-level. In order to come to recommendations related to institutional changes, we used insights from the abovementioned case analyses and interviews, and insight from a BRAIN TRAINS workshop in Ghent (8/09/2017), and combined and validated these with an analysis of position statements by societal interest groups, parliamentary debates and initiatives, as well as four additional interviews with key public and private actors involved in intermodal railway freight transport. Moreover, we took into account the policy recommendations done by other WPs and the institutional changes they refer to (mainly WP5 on regulation). These additional research activities were performed during WP 7.

4. SCIENTIFIC RESULTS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

In this section the main results of the described methodologies are summarized and some final recommendations are stated.

The main results and recommendations of **WP2** can be summarized in the following points:

- It has been noticed that the train load factor has been kept at high levels: 97-99%. In order for a rail service to be profitable and make up for its high fixed costs, the load factor should not fall below the above mentioned levels. Otherwise, freight consolidation should be sought in order to fill the containers, and the experiments conducted on the market formed around the European rail corridors show that this is indeed a possible endeavor, under a suitable optimization framework.
- Experiments have shown that subsidies are crucial for the business' survival and to make up for the high initial fixed costs. However, determining the optimal height at which these subsidies should be provided requires a mathematical framework that combines optimization techniques along with the knowledge of the incurred costs and market prices. A more generic logistics view is also necessary as subsidies are typically given to both rail and IWWs transport. Most studied cases share a certain recommended figure of the required subsidies (i.e. no more than 70-75% of the fixed costs).
- According to our conducted survey among shipping firms in Belgium, the average reported increase in transit time of intermodal with respect to all-road transport is 98-185.7%. Additionally, the average number of days equipment remain unavailable in all-road and intermodal transport is 3 and 6 days, respectively. We expect that giving higher priority to freight over passengers trains provided that currently the opposite is being applied in Europe would result in shorter transit times, hence an enhanced service quality of intermodal transport overall. The long transshipment times at the terminals also suggest a possible room for improvement in the terminal handling operations in order to reduce congestion and waiting times.
- Reduced costs and externalities, as well as increased sustainability over long distances have been identified as strength points of intermodal transport. The predominant market share of intermodal rail transport highlights the efficiency of this mode in terms of environmental objectives. The focus on environmental policies is therefore one solution to achieve the modal transfer from road to more environmentally friendly modes, as expected by the European Commission. On the contrary, results show that road transport is favoured when the focus is on policies which optimize economic objectives (minimization of operational costs).

- When the focus is on economic objectives (i.e. when operational costs are optimized), road transport has the highest market share. The lower representation of intermodal rail and IWW transport is explained by the high pre- and post-haulage costs (i.e. drayage operational costs). These costs can be reduced by improving the load factors of the trucks. This improvement could be achieved by a better bundling of flows, with an increased collaboration between freight carriers, so as to maximize the load factor of the trucks reaching or leaving the intermodal terminals. Such favorable results could also be attained by trying to increase the potential backhauling and consequently reduce the need for empty truck journeys.
- Intermodal transport is characterized by the possibility to carry large flows of goods. The bundling of flows allows an optimal loading of the long-haul modes like train or barge. The high fixed costs of the travel by rail or IWW can therefore be divided into more units, allowing economies of scale. Consolidation might also be improved in the pre- and posthaulage travels by truck. This could be achieved by the development of more cooperation and sharing of transport resources between the transport operators. A potential implication would be the development of new commercial strategies and technical tools to ensure the smooth collaboration between stakeholders.
- The introduction of a road tax leads to a more favorable market share for intermodal rail transport than in the case in which no tax is imposed. However, the resulted intermodal market share is still lower than the one obtained in the configuration which focuses only on the externalities of transport. These results highlight the environment-friendliness of intermodal rail transport and the necessity to take political measures through taxes, so as to reestablish the optimal social modal split which takes into account externalities and their related costs. This could also be obtained by including externalities in the economic system through the monetization and internalization of externalities (=external costs), e.g. by applying the polluter pays principle.

The main results and recommendations of **WP3** can be summarized in the following points:

- The direct analysis shows that rail freight operators in Belgium have undergone major transitions since the liberalization in 2007. Before the liberalization, rail freight activities were an integral part of the national rail operator, and no joint cost allocation, neither joint revenue nor employee allocation was taking place. As such, only limited conclusions can be drawn for this period. After privatization of the rail freight services, a positive trend in added value generation and employment creation is indicated by the observed indicators.
- The methodology application has learned that the simplified top-down approach is a good estimator of the actual added value when no transition is taking place. This method is easily executable due to the low amount of data required. For transition periods, the adapted topdown approach is a good estimator of the added value generation, which allows avoiding the data-intensive bottom-up approach.
- Competition has pushed the rail freight sector in Belgium forward. Although competitors
 have captured some high added value niche markets from the incumbent rail freight
 operator, both the added value generation as well as the added value per FTE are increasing
 within the incumbent rail freight operator and its competitors.

- Comparing the rail freight sector to road and inland waterways, it can be concluded that the latter is heavily depending on profit margins to generate added value, whereas the road and rail freight sector are generating added value due to job creation.
- Road freight and rail freight activities show a lot of similarities in terms of added value and employment generation. Nevertheless, the amount of revenue generated is lower in the road freight sector compared to the rail freight sector, indicating the high operating costs for the latter. It will be the challenge for the rail freight sector to maintain its positive added value and job creation while transitioning a higher share of revenue into profit margins. This will in its turn increase added value creation and can stimulate further job creation to surpass road transport.
- The indirect analysis confirms the finding that the rail freight sector has a considerable positive impact on the national economy compared to other land transport modes. For the observed data, an approximation multiplier of 2.423 was observed, resulting in an increase of economic output by 2.423 EUR for each additional EUR of final demand in 2011. This can be intuitively explained by the inputs required for rail freight services, often delivered from within the national economy. When taking into account data of 2015 this multiplier drops to 1.883, due to the cost cutting that was performed in the transition towards a more profitable sector after liberalization. Nevertheless, for the remaining land transport activities, this multiplier fluctuates around 1.645 and for IWW the multiplier stabilizes around 1.571, both considerably lower compared to the approximation of the economic impact by rail freight services.
- Linking the indirect analysis to the employment figures of the national economy, also the job creation effect of rail freight services is reconfirmed. For each additional million EUR of output, 10 additional FTE are hired in both the rail freight sector as well as the remaining land transportation sector. When taking into account seconded employees, this multiplier rises for the rail freight sector to 13.7 FTE for each additional million EUR of output. For the IWW, this job creation is considerably lower with an estimated value of 3.6 FTE per million EUR off additional output.
- These results show that collaborative business development should be the next trend. This evolution should not be one-sized, but find its source in both the rail freight operators, the shippers as well as the supporting stakeholders such as governments, terminals, port authorities, etc. The analysis has shown that the economic benefit as such is not the main issue blocking the development of a strong rail freight usage in Belgium. With collaborative business development, bottlenecks such as a lack of flexibility and a lack of economies of scale can be taken away, and a mental barrier can be broken down by increasing the image of rail freight transport as a trustworthy and valid alternative to road freight services.
- To do this, it is crucial to continue investment, however in the right things. Rail freight can only become flexible and attractive when standardization and operability with other modes of land transport are increasing. As such, smart investments need to be made to take away these bottlenecks and create a nutritious environment for rail freight transport development within an intermodal context. The role of the infrastructure manager, INFRABEL, and as such by extension the responsible governmental parties, are crucial within this setting. It is also recommended that Belgium, with LINEAS as a growing international rail freight operator and INFRABEL as the infrastructure manager, takes the lead to effectuate this standardization and interoperability implementation on a European level. As distances within Belgium are small, longer cross-border routes will be key to the future survival of rail freight transport

business in Belgium. By taking an active role in this, the Belgian rail freight sector will be one step ahead.

• A final recommendation lies in the tracking and publishment of data. Collaboration should not only take place at operational level, but also at strategic levels in order to combine data to form a strong case for all plausible stakeholders to be more involved in rail freight transport development. In this respect, data can be seen as the fuel for improved rail freight operations and innovations.

The main results and recommendations of **WP4** can be summarized in the following points:

- In view of the results obtained in the LCA study carried out within the framework of the WP

 the electricity supply mix plays a fundamental role in the environmental impacts of rail
 freight transport when using electric traction. Moreover, the load factor and emission
 engine technology are shown as determining factors in the environmental impacts of road
 transport.
- A better environmental performance of intermodal freight transport can be achieved by improving the characteristics of the inland freight transports modes such as energy efficiency, load factor, emission technology, use of alternative fuels and the electricity used in electric trains.
- Increase of the energy efficiency of freight transport. Transport is the sector with the highest energy consumption in the EU-28 and the second in Belgium with a 31.7% and 28.3% of the final energy consumption in the year 2012, respectively. Within the transport sector, road transport constitutes 81.6% in the EU-28 and 82.4% in Belgium of the transport final energy consumption (Eurostat statistics, 2017). Therefore, the search for a more energy-efficient transport system becomes necessary. Inland waterways transport is the most energyefficient mode of inland freight transport in our study, but also in both the EcoTransIT (2008) and Ecoinvent databases. Within rail freight transport, electric traction has the lowest energy consumption, while diesel traction has the highest. Focusing on road transport, our study shows that the energy consumption is highly dependent on the load factor. Thereby, an articulated lorry of 34-40 t with a load factor of 50% presents the highest energy consumption among the inland freight transport modes studied. However, with a load factor of 85%, it can achieve a lower energy consumption than diesel trains. The energy efficiency in the railway sector, and therefore its competiveness, will improve in the future. Some points to improve the efficiency of the rail freight transport will be the weight reduction through new materials of locomotives and wagons (Helms and Lambrecht, 2006). This would allow the saving of the energy consumed during the transport activity, but also energy consumed in the manufacture and disposal of rail vehicles. Moreover, the development of new engines for more energy-efficient locomotives, the energy recovery systems from braking, the energy-efficient driving through the control of speed and improved aerodynamics in rolling stock, will lead to a reduction in the energy consumption (IEA/UIC, 2015). Furthermore, a greater energy efficiency could be achieved by optimizing the management systems in the intermodal terminals, which would allow lower waiting times for transport vehicles such as barges or lorries and more efficiency in the transhipment processes using cargo handling equipment for example.
- Increase of load factors in freight transport. As mentioned above, the energy consumption is highly dependent on the load factor. Higher load factors in freight transport can be achieved through the shifting of road freight transport in long distances to rail freight transport. Thereby, the higher payload capacity of trains promotes their shared use by several

companies, which would improve the load factor and reduce the transport intensity. Furthermore, the higher operating costs of rail freight transport entail the optimization of the load factor to make it profitable. Moreover, the longer the train and the heavier the cargo, rail freight transport becomes more energy-efficient (Messagie et al., 2014). In the Belgian network, the length of freight trains is limited to 750 m and the maximum permitted load is 3600 t, although the average load of freight trains in Belgium were 569 t, 575 t and 584 t in the years 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively (SNCB, 2009). Furthermore, the use of electric locomotives rather than diesel locomotives enables to transport heavier loads.

- Improvement of the emission technology of the vehicles used in freight transport. The emission technology of a vehicle (e.g. diesel locomotive, barge or lorry) is a determining factor in the environmental impacts of freight transport. The air pollutant emissions from road transport have decreased over the years as a result of the implementation of the Euro emission standards, which have promoted enhancements of the emission control technologies. For diesel locomotives, the lower rate of replacement of the locomotives due to their longer life span causes a slow implementation of new engines with better emission technologies. It should be noted that the higher rate of renewal of the lorry fleet produces a faster improvement in road transport emissions.
- Use of alternatives fuels as biodiesel. Replacing diesel by other sources of cleaner energy as biodiesel, will lead to the reduction of environmental impacts. The use of biodiesel produces advantages in terms of CO₂ emissions, but analysing the life cycle of the biodiesel, the pollution could be transferred from air when combusting to soil and water during crop production. Therefore, the environmental advantages of the use of biodiesel depend on the specific type and source of the biodiesel. It should be noted that the use of biodiesel does not affect exhaust emissions dependent on engine technology such as NOx or particles for example.
- Use of low-sulphur fuels. The exhaust emissions of SO₂ are dependent on the sulphur content in fuels. Therefore, the higher the sulphur content in the fuel, the greater the SO₂ emissions. The fuel quality legislation has been shown as an effective measure to reduce the exhaust SO₂ emissions. In Belgium, the amount of sulphur by mass permissible for diesel used by diesel locomotives and lorries is 10 ppm from 2009. However, diesel in Belgium has an average sulphur content of 8 ppm since 2008. Similarly, the gas-oil used in barges has a limit of sulphur content of 10 ppm from 2011.
- Increase of the share of electric trains in the Belgian traction mix. In view of the results
 obtained in our study, electric trains show a better life-cycle environmental performance
 than diesel trains. Thereby, electric trains are more energy-efficient than diesel trains and
 the use of electric locomotives rather than diesel locomotives enables to transport heavier
 loads. It should be noted that even though the use of diesel is present in rail freight
 transport in Belgium, the use of electric traction is much greater. Moreover, the use of diesel
 traction is decreasing in Belgium, which means that only a small part of the rail freight
 produces exhaust emissions. Therefore, the increased use of electric trains in intermodal
 transport represents an opportunity to attain a more environment- and health-friendly, and
 energy-efficient transport system.
- Enhancement of the electricity supply mix used by electric trains. The electricity supply mix plays a fundamental role in the environmental impacts of rail freight transport when using electric traction. Thus, as the use of electric trains will increase in the future and have a higher share of the total inland freight transport, the energy split for the electricity

generation will be more important in the environmental impacts of goods transport. The use of electric trains becomes especially interesting when they are powered by sustainable electricity. The liberalization of the energy supplier market for the rail freight transport companies could be seen as an opportunity to improve the electricity supply mix of electric trains. Rail freight transport operators could commit to clean electricity as a competitive factor. However, this could also have a negative effect, since companies could opt for cheaper energies such as nuclear energy or coal. Nuclear fission does not produce direct air emissions such as greenhouse gases for example, but instead nuclear wastes with a high potential impact on human health and ecosystems are produced.

According to the **WP5**, some recommendations can be drawn for the Belgian policy:

- The research shows an active competition between firms on the Western European rail freight market. Those give positive signs of increasing competition and attractiveness on the market in spite of the non-evident impact of liberalization at an aggregate level. Operators develop strategies of differentiation and new business models based on new services such as leasing, outsourced maintenance or drivers, etc. This is an important lever to reduce sunk costs and increase the attractiveness of the market. In this way, the strong increase of the number of newcomers after the European liberalization shows that there is a market for rail freight where it is possible to make business in spite of intra-modal competition, road competition or the imperfect European single market.
- Nevertheless, the indicators cannot conceal the persistence of barriers and drawbacks for the rail freight market. First of all, the ratio of capital cost on labour cost confirms the existence of barriers, which increase the price for newcomers to enter the market in spite of efforts from the European Commission and the European Railway Agency (ERA) to harmonize rules and support technical interoperability. Consequences are over-costs for operators and barriers to entry between different national networks. In this way, the corridor policy (TEN-T) is a first step, but the control of the performance of network managers at European level and the harmonization of practices between them seems to be a long way with strong cultural and organizational barriers. Secondly, the POP analysis shows imperfect competition on the market due to an imperfect single market (barriers and segmented market). Finally, the discussion highlights a risk of concentration around a tight oligopoly and a dominant operator at the head. Hence, the future for the rail freight market seems dark and the narrow size of the European market (€15 billion) compared to the needs in financial and political investments to complete the single market does not call for optimism.
- Considering the Belgian network as a key element for hinterland competition. The
 performance indicators with targets and corresponding financial penalties to push the
 infrastructure manager towards a better productivity, like in Switzerland and The
 Netherlands, can be a good signal towards the market in the long term to ensure a stability
 of the access charges.
- Drawing a transport policy on the long term and keep the consensus like in Switzerland. This
 is maybe the most difficult lever to implement in a policy but also the most efficient to give a
 vision on the long term and drive investments. Beyond the political changes, a stable Federal
 agency for transport policy can be a first step towards the long term. The stability of the
 funds in the long term can be a second step.

- Drawing an exhaustive transport policy taking account not only the infrastructure investment but also the performance of the infrastructure manager, the market conditions and the incentive schemes for the other modes. The analysis of the Swiss case shows that this exhaustiveness has been developed progressively from the first performance contract in 1980 to the infrastructure plan in 1986, the rail freight liberalization in 1999 and the incentive scheme in the years 2000. Today, each of these levers are cumulated.
- Considering the infrastructure manager as a privileged way to implement a transport policy by a strong monitoring. In Austria, the monitoring considers mainly the implementation of the infrastructure plan, while in The Netherlands and Switzerland, it concerns the implementation of the rail transport policy and the network manager performance. In any case, in each country, the performance contract is clearly a lever for the State and the monitoring is annual.
- Considering the pricing of access charges as an incentive lever to drive the market. In The Netherlands, the price per train-km is decreasing for trains above 600 tons and for the dedicated line from Rotterdam to the German border compared to the rest of the network. The highest number of incentives are in Switzerland where several discounts are offered for trains with a good environmental performance, anti-noise equipment or ERTMS equipment. This type of incentive scheme seems to be more and more preferred over the classic system of subsidies, costly and borderline with the European law.
- Considering the regulatory body as a key lever to manage the infrastructure manager and the market. A major change in the regulatory body would be an extension of its skills to the definition of the contract of performance. This approach does not exist in Europe but the advantages could be high according to the independence of this institution. First, it is a perfect intermediate between the political vision and the reality of the market. Second, such organization would be a small revolution for a rail sector used to be drive by the government with the risks of public capture (Laffont & Tirole, 1991; Crozet et al., 2014). Third, it will be a guarantee in the stability of the infrastructure manager monitoring on the long term. Concrete skills would be:
 - A regular and deep market analysis similar to Austria.
 - The definition and the monitoring of the contract of performance according to the political orientations.
 - A restrictive power on the pricing of access charges.
 - $\circ\;$ An extension of the juridical fields to the consumer's complaints similar to The Netherlands.
 - $\circ~$ An extension of the field of the regulatory agency to the other modes of transport similar to Sweden².
- Implementing a European transport agency for regulation. The benchmark shows a high heterogeneity in the missions of the different regulatory bodies while the basics are similar. The European Commission kept the competencies for regulation and market monitoring. Then, it transferred its competencies for technical harmonization to the European Rail Agency. A similar transfer to the ERA or another agency would have beneficial impact in terms of coordination and harmonization for a better regulation of the rail single market. This last point cannot be neglected to improve knowledge about the market and its economic efficiency.

 $^{^{2}}$ This case has not been detailed in the benchmark but since 2009, the Swedish regulatory body (Transportstyrelsen) is the only in Europe to be intermodal.

As to the governance and organization of intermodal freight transport policies in **WP6**, the different research activities resulted in the following scientific results.

First, the two case studies (the failed 1997-2010 interfederal initiative to formulate a joined-• up strategy for sustainable and intermodal mobility and transport, and the policy and administrative coordination in the transposition of the ITS EU-directive) gave evidence that while competences regarding freight transport and related policy domains in Belgium are indeed scattered across the federal and the regional level, the level of current policy-level and administrative integration is very limited and initiatives to increase such integration fail or yield only limited progress, especially when considering such integration across levels of governments. The evidence of the first case resulted in a list of enablers and impediments for policy level integration across policy domains and governmental levels (see figure 1, D1.1-1.2 G; Stevens and Verhoest 2016a), while the second case showed on the one hand policy makers to work rather autonomously with limited concertation and on the other hand clusters of cooperating administrative actors mainly located within the different governments and with very limited cross-governmental linkages (see D6.4. section 2). This policy fragmentation found in these cases proved during the research to be a major issue in intermodal freight transport policy more generally.

Figure 1. List of enablers and impediments

- The willingness of the involved actors to work across organizational and governmental boundaries and the role of the coordinating actor in the constellation;
- 2. The inclusiveness of actors in procedures and communication;
- 3. Impatience, strict deadlines and the demand for quick wins;
- 4. The compatibility of policy orientations among involved actors;
- 5. The fit with operational policy plans;
- 6. Regionalization of transport competences;
- 7. The growing influence of the European Union and transnational institutions;
- 8. Sectorial changes and demands that have to be taken into account;
- 9. Political proliferation (after elections);
- 10. Budgetary cuts and austerity measures.
- The second set of case studies conducted in WP6 of two more successful initiatives of policy integration across policy domains and governmental levels, together with the other research activities done (see methodology) and findings of the first case study, resulted in extensive insights of under what conditions policy makers and administrative actors actively engage in collaborative policy design networks and which metagovernance strategies or network management strategies coordinators of such networks can apply to come to innovative, integrative policies. These insights (reported in Stevens 2017a; Stevens and Agger 2017b; Stevens 2017c; and Stevens 2018b; Stevens and Dorren 2017) makes valuable contributions to the literature on policy integration and collaborative policy innovation networks, which has been so far limited in terms of contextualized analyses of the success of such strategies or which lacks knowledge on relevant factors based on inferential social network analyses (see e.g. Sørensen and Torfing, 2012; Torfing, 2017). A full account of the contribution towards the literature in terms of theory, methodology, and future research is given in the dissertation of Vidar Stevens (2018a: 196-2010).

- This empirical evidence in combination with extensive review of academic literature and former research resulted in the development of two toolboxes which detail processes, instruments and managerial techniques to increase policy integration, respectively administrative integration. First, as there is need of a well-considered reflexive management of the process to jointly co-create and frame innovative integrative freight transport policies, a detailed step-wise approach for successful policy integration was developed by BRAIN-TRAINS (see for detailed guidelines, D.6.4 section 4.1: toolbox for policy level integration pp.15-42). This toolbox extensively describes the following steps, referring to relevant approaches and tactics: (1) analysing the political and policy context; (2) identifying and involving the relevant stakeholders (political, administrative and societal); (3) setting up a strong groundwork from where the collaboration can unfold; (4) different approaches in which the coordinator can manage the collaborative process by using different 10 network management strategies; (5) different approaches in order to policy learning activities in collaborative decision-making processes; and (6) developing and agreeing on an strategic plan for implementation. This toolbox is directly relevant for federal and regional policy makers aiming to design jointly an innovative and integrative strategy for intermodal freight transport policies. Beyond its practical use in this specific domain, the toolbox approach to policy integration is also relevant to other policy issues in which governments need to coordinate with each other and internally.
- Similarly, a toolbox for administrative integration was designed which formulates coordination instruments in order to secure implementation of the jointly agreed policy measures as well as the necessary conditions at (inter)organizational level (see for detailed guidelines, D.6.4 section 4.2: steps towards administrative level integration pp.43-61). The toolbox shows the relevance of deploying network instruments (like systems for sharing data and information as well as platforms for coordination), transport chain coordination and a better coordinated regulation of the different markets (like rail, road, IWW) as well as the need for hierarchical instruments to get the jointly agreed policy measures implemented through the ministerial hierarchies and related agencies. The toolbox also highlights the conditions for effective implementation of joint strategies and collaboration within and between governments: (1) a clear mandate (including organizational leadership commitment, ministers' and stakeholders' buy-in, and clearly defined and agreed joint outcomes); (2) well-functioning performance management systems (including appropriate accountability frameworks, sufficient resources, and performance measurement process), and (3) collaborative behaviour, by having the right skills and competencies, coordinationsupporting organizational cultures and shared values. Again, the toolbox is also applicable for cross-cutting policy issues, other than intermodal (railway) freight transport.
- The study shows that, in order to achieve the best case scenario, high levels of policy and administrative integration regarding intermodal (railway) freight transport prove to be necessary. Hence using the abovementioned developed toolboxes, the following recommendations in terms of process-related and instrumental approaches were formulated (see for full details on the recommendations: D7.2, concluding section):
 - ✓ Integrate federal and regional intermodal freight transport policies into an interfederal long term vision and plan
 - ✓ Make the co-creation of (interfederal) intermodal freight transport policies more effective and innovation-oriented by applying the steps as outlined in the toolbox for policy integration (D.6.4 section 4.1)
 - ✓ Make the jointly agreed policies for intermodal freight transport into reality by fostering administrative coordination and implementation within and between governments

(taking into account the conditions and instruments as described in the toolbox for administrative integration, see D6.4, section 4.2)

- However, also recommendations about institutional changes within Belgium and at the EUlevel to be considered have been formulated:
 - ✓ Increase the expertise on (intermodal) freight transport policies within the coreadministration (ministries/departments) and ministerial cabinets both at federal and regional level.
 - Rationalise and streamline the landscape of coordination bodies in which federal and regional actors aim to concert their policies and actions regarding (public/freight) transport policy, or mobility more broadly and make them more well-performing
 - ✓ Assign a joint interfederal body (like the ECMM) encompassing the ministers of mobility (assisted by their top administrators) which not only develops and renews the interfederal intermodal freight transport policy, but which also monitors and discusses the implementation of intermodal policy measures by the different governments
 - Create or upgrade to a full-fledged market regulator, with an independent status, resources and expertise and a strong and broad regulatory mandate (as recommended in WP5), with a good collaboration and intense interactions with the competition authority
 - ✓ Advocate towards the EU for institutional changes at the EU-level by the creation of an European agency for economic regulation and a competition authority in order to make an economic single market for the rail sector and to avoid dominant positions on that European market

5. DISSEMINATION AND VALORISATION

The results of this research have been disseminated through their presentation in several scientific conferences of operations research (ORBEL, EURO, IFORS, OR) and transport (BIVEC-GIBET, NECTAR, WCTR, TRA, ETC). Results of the project are also used for academic purposes such as presentations during courses such as the Antwerp Rail School edition 2015 and 2017. Research results have also been presented and discussed at the annual BRAIN-TRAINS workshops organized during the project lifecycle. Results have been valorized through their publication in scientific journals and proceedings of conferences. A list of publications is provided in the next section. Results are also publicly published on the website (http://www.brain-trains.be) and have been frequently made visible by publishment in the academic newsletters.

The academic research done by the UA research group 'Public Administration and Management' (PAM) within BRAIN-TRAINS was presented at eight different conferences (including IPSA – International Political Science Association conference, IRSPM International Research Symposium on Public Management, ICPP conference of the International Public Policy Association, EGPA European Group of Public Administration, WIPCAD), next to the joint papers with the other research teams be presented at other conferences. Also one practitioner-oriented book chapter was published, besides one PhD dissertation and seven scientific articles and book chapters (see next section 'publications'). The interim results were also discussed with practitioners at the BRAIN-TRAINS workshops and at the BRAIN-TRAINS final conference. The results also inspired the content of an executive training program in 2017-2018 and in 2019, called 'Masterclass network organisation and network leadership' to which public managers from the federal, Flemish and local level participate in order to increase their skills for policy and administrative integration. Moreover, the publications and PhD dissertation are openly accessible. A valorisation of another kind is that the research and resulting theoretical and methodological insights on policy and administrative integration. Kind is that the research and resulting theoretical and methodological insights on policy and administrative integration within BRAIN TRAINS helped in acquiring additional H2020 research funding, as the

research group on Public Administration and Management of UAntwerp became partner and work package leader in the H2020 research and innovation project TROPICO 'Transforming into Open, Innovative and Collaborative Governments' (2017-2021), which consists of 12 European universities.

6. PUBLICATIONS

Submitted

A. L. Merchan, S. Belboom, A. Léonard, "Environmental impact assessment of intermodal freight transport in Belgium using a Life Cycle Assessment approach", The European Journal of Transport and Infrastructure Research, submitted in December 2017.

Laroche F., C. Sys, T. Vanelslander, E. Van de Voorde (2018). Assessing competition in the European rail freight market: is there an oligopoly? Submitted to International Journal of Transport Economics in 2018.

A. L. Merchan, A. Léonard, S. Limbourg, M. Mostert, "Life cycle externalities versus external costs: the case of inland freight transport in Belgium", Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment, submitted in August 2018.

A. L. Merchan, S. Belboom, A. Léonard, "Life Cycle Assessment of rail freight transport in Belgium", The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment, submitted in July 2018.

Merchan, A. L, Léonard, A., Limbourg, S. and Mostert, M. (2018). Life cycle externalities versus external costs: the case of inland freight transport in Belgium. Submitted to Transportation Research part D in 2018.

Troch, F., Vanelslander, T. and Sys, C. (2018). 'The added value of rail freight transport in Belgium. A company case analysis to put rail freight development on the fast track. Submitted to European Transport Research Review in 2018.

Published

Stevens, V. and K. Verhoest. (2014). Drafting a holistic government strategy for smart green freight transport in a highly conflictive multi-level governance system. Proceedings of the 2nd WIPCAD Conference, 4-6 December, 2014, Potsdam, Germany.

A. L. Merchan, S. Belboom, A. Léonard, "Environmental impact assessment of rail freight intermodality", 7th International Conference on Life Cycle Management. Bordeaux, France, 2015. SAM9 - Society and Materials International Conference. Luxembourg, 2015. SETAC Europe 25th Annual Meeting. Barcelona, Spain, 2015.

A. L. Merchan, S. Belboom, A. Léonard, "Environmental impact assessment of rail freight intermodality", Proceedings of the BIVEC/GIBET transport research days, Eindhoven, Netherlands, 2015.

Stevens, V. and K. Verhoest. (2015). Theorizing on the metagovernance of collaborative policy innovations. Prroceedings of the 2nd ICPP Conference, 1-4 July, 2015, Milan, Italy.

Stevens, V. and K. Verhoest. (2015). Theorizing on the social dynamics within collaborative policy innovation networks. Proceedings of the 2nd ICPP Conference, 1-4 July, 2015, Milan, Italy.

Stevens, V. (2015). Huh?! Collaborative policy innovation; what is the thing you are investigating? Proceedings of the Flemish-Australian Network Dialogue, 15 September, 2015, Ghent, Belgium.

Stevens, V and K. Verhoest (2015). Through the eyes of the metagovernor: reflections on a failed multi-level and multi-sectorial process of collaborative policy innovation for sustainable freight transport. Proceedings of the IRSPM Public Service Innovation and the Delivery of Effective Public Services Conference, 15-17 October, 2015, Budapest, Hungary.

Tawfik, C. & Limbourg, S. (2015). Bilevel optimization in the context of intermodal pricing: state of art. Proceedings of the 18th Euro Working Group on Transportation, EWGT 2015. Elsevier.

Troch, F., Vanelslander, T., Belboom, S., Leonard, A., Limbourg, S., Merchan, A., Mostert, M., Pauwels, T., Vidar, S., Sys, S., Tawfik, C., Verhoest, K. (2015). Intermodal rail freight transport and hinterland connections : a SWOT analysis to assess the Belgian rail practice. Proceedings of the BIVEC/IBET Transport Research Days 2015, May 28-29 2015, Eindhoven / Rasouli, Soora [edit.] - ISBN 978-94-6197-277-4 - Eindhoven, University Press, 2015, p. 119-131.

Troch, F., Vanelslander, T., Sys, C., Pauwels, T., Limbourg, S., Mostert, M., Tawfik, C., Belboom, S., Merchan, A., Leonard, A., Stevens, V., Verhoest, K. (2015). BRAIN-TRAINS : intermodal rail freight transport and hinterland connections : a SWOT analysis to assess the Belgian rail practice. Proceedings of the IAME annual conference 2015, International Association of Maritime Economists, Kuala Lumpur, 24-26 August 2015 - 2015, p. 1-20.

Troch, F., Vanelslander, T., Sys, C., Tawfik, C., Mostert, M., Limbourg, S., Belboom, S., Merchan, A., Leonard, A., Stevens, V., Verhoest, K. (2015). BRAIN-TRAINS : scenarios for intermodal rail freight transport and hinterland connections : from a SWOT analysis of the Belgian rail practice to scenario development. Proceedings of the 43rd European Transport Conference 2015, 28-30 September 2015, Goethe Universität, Frankfurt, Germany - 2015, p. 1-20

A. L. Merchan, S. Belboom, A. Léonard, "Environmental Impact Assessment of Rail Freight Intermodality", in J. Pombo, (Editor), Proceedings of the Third International Conference on Railway Technology: Research, Development and Maintenance, Civil-Comp Press, Stirlingshire, UK, Paper 296, 2016. doi:10.4203/ccp.110.296.

A. L. Merchan, S. Belboom, A. Léonard, "BRAIN-TRAINS: Integrating the LCA methodology in an interdisciplinary project", Proceedings of the 5th international conference on Life Cycle approaches, Lille, France, 2016.

A. L. Merchan, S. Belboom, A. Léonard, "BRAIN-TRAINS: Integrating the LCA methodology in an interdisciplinary project", [avniR] 5th international conference on Life Cycle approaches. Lille, France, 2016.

A. L. Merchan, S. Belboom, A. Léonard, "Rail freight intermodality in Belgium: energy related emissions", SAM10 - Society and Materials International Conference. Rome, Italy, 2016. SETAC Europe 26th Annual Meeting. Nantes, France, 2016. With poster spotlight presentation.

Laroche F., C. Sys, F. Troch; T. Vanelslander (2016). Which regulation for which railway market structure in Europe? The Belgium case study. In: WCTR, 11th July, Shanghai, 2016.

Laroche F., C. Sys, T. Vanelslander, E. Van de Voorde (2016). Which regulation for which railway market structure in Europe? The Belgium case study. In: hEART, 5th Symposium, Delft, 14-16 September, 2016

Stevens, V and K. Verhoest. (2016). Actor learning behaviour in collaborative policy innovation networks. Proceedings of the 24th IPSA World Conference, 23-28 July, 2016, Poznan, Poland.

Stevens, V and K. Verhoest. (2016). Mutual learners or strategic agents in collaborative policy innovation networks. Proceedings of the EGPA Annual Conference, 24-26 August, 2016, Utrecht, the Netherlands.

Stevens, V. and K. Verhoest. (2016). How to metagovern collaborative networks for the promotion of policy innovations in a dualistic federal system. The Innovation Journal: The Public Sector Innovation Journal, 21(2): 1-26.

Stevens, V. and K. Verhoest. (2016b). A next step in collaborative policy innovation research: analysing interactions using Exponential Random Graph Modelling. The Innovation Journal: The Public Sector Innovation Journal, 21(2): 1-20.

Troch, F., Vanelslander, T., Sys, C., Stevens, V., Verhoest, K., Tawfik, C., Mostert, M., Limbourg, S., Merchan, A., Belboom, S., Léonard A. (2016). BRAIN-TRAINS : scenario development to explore intermodal rail transport expansion in, from and towards Belgium. Proceedings of the World Conference on Transport Research: WCTR 2016, Shanghai, 10-15 July 2016 - ISSN 2352-1465 - 2016, p. 1-18

Troch, F., Vanelslander, T. and Sys, C. (2016). Macro-economic impact of rail freight in Belgium : what can be the future added value?. Proceedings of the 44th European Transport Conference 2016, 05-07 october 2016, Barcelona, Spain - 2016, p. 1-19

Langbroek, T., C. Riche, C. van Dijck, V. Stevens, D. Aubin, S. Moyson, T. Steen, K. Verhoest. (2017). What Conditions Drive Sustainable Collaborative Innovation In The Public Sector? An Analysis of Network, Organisational, and Individual Level Drivers and Barriers for Public Sector Innovation, Proceedings of International Research Society of Public Management Conference, 18-20 April, 2017, Budapest, Hungary.

A. L. Merchan, S. Belboom, A. Léonard, "Life Cycle Assessment of freight transport in Belgium", SAM11 - Society and Materials International Conference. Trondheim, Norway, 2017. SETAC Europe 27th Annual Meeting. Brussels, Belgium, 2017.

A. L. Merchan, S. Belboom, A. Léonard, "Life Cycle Assessment of intermodal freight transport in Belgium", Third meeting of the FNRS LCA Contact group. Liège, Belgium, 2017. 8th International Conference on Life Cycle Management. Luxembourg, 2017.

A. L. Merchan, S. Belboom, A. Léonard, "Life Cycle Assessment of freight transport in Belgium", Proceedings of the BIVEC-GIBET Transport Research Days, Liège, Belgium, 2017.

A. L. Merchan, S. Belboom, A. Léonard, "Life Cycle Assessment of railway infrastructure in Belgium", Proceedings of the 6th international conference on Life Cycle approaches, Lille, France, 2017.

Laroche F., C. Sys, T. Vanelslander, E. Van de Voorde (2017). Assessment of competition on the new European rail freight market. In: Bivec-Gibet, Transport Research Days, 18-19 May, Liège, 2017

Laroche F. (2017). Ten years after the European rail freight liberalization: what is the state of competition?. In: Open Stage Café, International Transport Forum, Leipzig, 1st June, 2017

Laroche F., C. Sys, T. Vanelslander, E. Van de Voorde (2017). Imperfect competition in a network industry: The case of the European rail freight market. Transport Policy, 58, 53-61.

Stevens, V. and L. Dorren. (2017). Leergedrag van Ambtenaren in Netwerken, Book chapter in: G. Bouma, Gedeelde Ruimte. Beroepsvereniging van Nederlandse Stedenbouwkundigen en Planologen en Vlaamse Vereniging voor Ruimte en Planning.

Stevens, V. (2017). Individual learning behaviour in collaborative policy innovation networks. Proceedings of Learning Scholars Workshop, 18-20 January, 2017, London, Great-Britain.

Stevens, V. (2017). Individual learning behaviour in a Flemish collaborative innovation network. Proceedings of International Research Society of Public Management Conference, 18-20 April, 2017, Budapest, Hungary.

Stevens, V. (2017a). How to Manage Collaborative Policy Innovation Networks? Practical Lessons from a Flemish Coastal Protection Initiative. Journal of Public Administration and Governance, 7(4), 94-116.

Stevens, V, and A. Agger. (2017b). Managing Collaborative Innovation Networks – Practical Lessons from a Belgian Spatial Planning initiative. Published in: Journal of Public Administration and Governance, 7(3):154-173.

Stevens, V. (2017c). Discussion: The Network Manager as Therapist. Journal of Public Administration and Governance, 7(3): 118-122.

Tawfik, C. & Limbourg, S. (2017). Operational assessment of intermodality future in Belgium: Bestcase scenario. Proceedings of the BIVEC/GIBET Transport Research Days 2017.

Troch, F., Vanelslander, T., Sys, C., Laroche, F., Stevens, V., Verhoest, K., Merchan, A., Mostert, M.,

Tawfik, C., Belboom, S., Léonard, A., Limbourg, S. (2017). A road map for explorative scenario creation on Belgian rail freight transport development. Competition and regulation in network industries - ISSN 1783-5917 - (2017), p. 1-19.

A. L. Merchan, S. Belboom, A. Léonard, "Study of an international intermodal freight route based on an Environmental Life Cycle Assessment perspective", Proceedings of the 4th international conference on Logistics Operations Management, Le Havre, France, April 2018.

Laroche F., C. Sys, T. Vanelslander, E. Van de Voorde (2018). Assessing competition in the European rail freight market: is there an oligopoly? In: 4th Edition IJTE award for the best young researcher, 18th May, Genoa, 2018

Laroche F., C. Sys, T. Vanelslander, E. Van de Voorde (2018). Which outlooks for the European rail freight market? 16th Florence Rail Forum, European University Institute, 7th May, Florence, 2018

Stevens, V. (2018). Managing the Ostrich's dance. A study on the management of collaborative networks for the promotion of policy innovations. Published dissertation Universiteit Antwerpen.

Can be retrieved from: https://repository.uantwerpen.be/docman/irua/dc1bbc/150403.pdf. Contains the articles and book chapters produced.

Stevens, V. (2018). Individual learning behaviour in collaborative networks. in: Dunlop, C., C. Radaelli, and P. Trein, Learning in Public Policy: Analysis, Modes and Outcomes. Palgrave-MacMillan, Basingstoke, United Kingdom.

Tawfik, C. & Limbourg, S. (2018). Operational assessment of intermodality future in Belgium: Best - case scenario. Proceedings of the GOL'18 (Logistics Operations Management).

Tawfik, C. & Limbourg, S. (2018). Pricing problems in intermodal freight transport: Research overview and prospects. Submitted to Sustainability.

Tawfik, C. & Limbourg, S. (2018). A bilevel model for network design and pricing based on a level-of-service assessment. Submitted to Transportation Science.

Tawfik, C. & Limbourg, S. (2018). Scenario analysis for intermodal transport based on service network design models. Working paper.

Tawfik, C., Limbourg, S. & Gendron, B. (2018). Solution algorithms for a bilevel service network design and pricing model. Working paper.

Troch, F., Vanelslander, T. and Sys, C. (2018). The added value of rail freight transport in Belgium: a company case analysis to put rail freight development on the fast track. Proceedings of 7th Transport Research Arena TRA 2018, April 16-19, 2018, Vienna, Austria - 2018, p. 1-12.

7. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The research group on Transport and Regional Economics is most thankful to all interviewees and respondents, and their home organizations, which helped the research by granting access to cases and giving information and documents. For the methodology, the help of the National Bank of Belgium (department of micro-economics) and the Federal Planning Office has been proven to be key for the methodology development. Special thanks is going to LINEAS for providing valuable company information for the analysis and for their open and constructive attitude towards the research.

The research group on Public Administration & Management is most thankful to all interviewees and respondents, and their home organizations, which helped the research by granting access to cases and giving information and documents.

The research group on regulation is most thankful to all interviewees and respondents, and their home organizations, which helped the research by granting access to cases and giving information and documents. Special thanks is going to the Regulatory body for railway transport and for Brussels airport operations for providing data on the market and LINEAS for their open and constructive attitude towards the research.

The research group on Chemical Engineering is most thankful to all interviewees and respondents, and their home organizations, which helped the research by granting access to cases and giving information and documents. We especially thank Infrabel for all the information received on railway infrastructure. Likewise, we would like to thank LINEAS, ITB (Instituut voor het Transport langs de

Binnenwateren / Institut pour le Transport par Batellerie) and Terminal Container Athus for assistance with data collection.

The research group on Logistics is most thankful to all interviewees and respondents, and their home organizations, which helped the research by giving information and documents. We would specially like to acknowledge LINEAS, Move Intermodal, Terminal Container Athus and UIRR (International Union for Road-Rail Combined Transport) for the contributions of their time and expertise to the research.

We would like to thank Georges Jamart from BELSPO for his continued support, availability and confidence.

REFERENCES

Agger, A., & Sørensen, E. (2016). Managing Collaborative Innovation in Public Bureaucracies. *Planning Theory*, doi: 10.1177/1473095216672500.

Agranoff, R. (2006). Inside Collaborative Networks: Ten Lessons for Public Managers. *Public Administration Review*, 66(special issue), 56-65. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-6210.2006.00666.x

Andersen, J., Crainic, T. G., and Christiansen, M. (2009a). Service network design with asset management: Formulations and comparative analyses. *Transportation Research Part C: Emerging Technologies*, 17(2):197–207.

Andersen, J., Crainic, T. G., and Christiansen, M. (2009b). Service network design with management and coordination of multiple fleets. *European Journal of Operational Research*, 193(2):377–389.

Ansell, C., & Torfing, J. (2014). *Public Innovation through Collaboration and Design*. New York, N.Y.: Routledge.

Arnold, P., Peeters, D. and Thomas, I. (2004). Modelling a rail/road intermodal transportation system. *Transportation Research Part E*, 40:255-270.

Aubin D. and Verhoest, K. (eds.) (2014), *Multilevel Regulation in Telecommunications: Adaptive regulatory arrangements in Belgium, Ireland, the Netherlands, and Switzerland*. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan Ltd.

Barnhart, C. and Schneur, R. R. (1996). Air network design for express shipment service. *Operations Research*, 44(6):852–863.

Baumol, W. and Willig, R. (1983), "Pricing issues in the deregulation of railroad rates", in Finsinger, J. (Ed.), *Economics Analysis of Regulated Markets*. St Martin's Press, New York.

Beck, A., Bente, H., Schilling, M. (2013), "Railway efficiency: an overview and a look at opportunities for improvement", International transport forum, discussion paper (2013-12).

Berndt, E., Friedlaender, A., Chiang, J., Vellturo, C. (1993), "Mergers, Deregulation, and Cost Savings in the US Rail Industry", *Journal of Productivity Analysis*, Vol. 4, pp. 127-44.

Beukers, E., Bertolini, L. and M. Brömmelstroet (2012), Why Cost Benefit Analysis is perceived as a problematic tool for of transport plans: A process perspective, Transportation Research Part A, 46 (1), 68–78

Bikker, J. A. and Haaf, K. (2002), "Competition, concentration and their relationship: An empirical analysis of the banking industry", *Journal of Banking and Finance*, Vol. 26, pp. 2191-2214.

Bloemen, P., 2017. Toegevoegde waarde, Economie lokaal. Consulted on 08/09/2017 at url: https://www.economielokaal.nl/toegevoegde-waarden/

Bogdanor, V. (2005). Joined-up government. Oxford: Oxford university press.

Boin, A. and 't Hart, P. (2010) "Organising for effective emergency management: Lessons from research", in *Australian Journal of Public Administration*, 69(4), 357-371

Bos, J.W.B. and Schmiedel, H. (2007), "Is there a single frontier in a single European banking market?", *Journal of Banking and Finance*, Vol. 31, pp. 2081-2102.

Bouckaert, G., Peters, G. B., & Verhoest, K. (2010). *The Coordination of Public Sector Organizations: Shifting Patterns of Public Management*. Hampshire: Palgrave Macmillan.

Cable, J.R., Mueller, D.C., 2008. Testing for persistence of profits' differences across firms. International Journal of the Economics of Business, 15(2), 201-228.

Candel, J. J. L., & Biesbroek, R. (2016). Toward a processual understanding of policy integration. *Policy Sciences*, 49, 211–231.

Cantos, P. and Maudos, J. (2001), "Regulation and efficiency: the case of European railways", *Transportation research part A*, Vol. 35, pp. 459-472.

Carayannopoulos, G. (2017). Whole of Government: the Solution to Managing Crises? *Australian Journal of Public Administration*, 76(2), 251–265.

Carey, G., Mcloughlin, P., & Crammond, B. (2015). Implementing Joined-Up Government: Lessons from the Australian Social Inclusion Agenda. *Australian Journal of Public Administration*, 74(2), 176–186.

Caris, A., Macharis, C., and Janssens, G. K. (2008). Planning problems in intermodal freight transport: accomplishments and prospects. *Transportation Planning and Technology*, 31(3):277–302.

Caris, A., Macharis, C., and Janssens, G. K. (2013). Decision support in intermodal transport: a new research agenda. *Computers in industry*, 64(2):105–112.

Caves, D., Christensen, L., Swanson, J. (1980), "Productivity growth, scale economies, and capacity utilization in U.S. railroads", *The American economic review*, Vol. 71 No.5, pp. 994-1002.

Caves, D., Christensen, L., Swanson, J. (1981), « Productivity in U.S. railroads, 1951-1974", *The Bell journal of economics*, Vol. 11, pp. 166-181.

Caves, D., Christensen, L., Thretheway, M., Windle, R.J. (1987), "Network effects and the measurement of returns to scale and density for US railroads", in Cambridge University Press (Ed.), *Analytical studies in transport economics*, Cambridge, pp. 97–120.

Cejudo, G. M., & Michel, C. L. (2017). Addressing fragmented government action: coordination, coherence, and integration. *Policy Sciences*, 50(4), 745–767.

Christensen, T., Andreas Danielsen, O., LÆgreid, P., & Rykkja, L. H. (2016). Comparing Coordination Structures for Crisis Management in Six Countries. *Public Administration*, 94(2), 316–332.

Christensen, T., & Lægreid, P. (2007). The Whole-of-Government Approach to Public Sector Reform. *Public Administration Review*, 67(6), 1059–1066.

Coppens, F., Lagneaux, F., Meersman, H., Sellekaerts, N., Van de Voorde, E., Van Gastel, G., Vanelslander, T. and Verhetsel, A. (2007); Economic impact of port activity : a disaggregate analysis

Crainic, T. G. (2000). Service network design in freight transportation. *European Journal of Operational Research*, 122(2):272–288.

Crainic, T. G. and Kim, K. H. (2007). Intermodal transportation. *Handbooks in operations research and management science*, 14:467–537.

Crozet, Y., Haucap, J., Pagel, B., Musso, A., Van de Voorde, E., Vanelslander, T., Woodburn, A. (2014), "Development of rail freight in Europe: what regulation can and cannot do?", Discussion paper, Centre on regulation in Europe.

Czarniawska B. (Ed.) (2009). Organizing in the face of risk and threat. Cheltenham: Edward Elgar.

De Borger, B. (1992), "Estimating a multiple-output generalized Box-Cox cost function", *European Economic Review*, Vol. 36, pp. 1379-1398.

Deville, X., Verduyn, F. (2012), "Implementation of EU legislation on rail liberalization in Belgium, France, Germany and the Netherlands", Working paper, National Bank of Belgium.

Doberstein, C. (2015). Designing Collaborative Governance Decision-Making in Search of a 'Collaborative Advantage'. *Public Management Review*, 18(6), 819-841.

EcoTransIT, "EcoTransIT: Ecological Transport Information Tool. Environmental. Methodology and Data. Update 2008", ifeu - Institut für Energieund Umweltforschung Heidelberg GmbH, Germany, 2008.

Egeberg, M., & Trondal, J. (2016). Why strong coordination at one level of government is incompatible with strong coordination across levels (and how to live with it): The case of the

European Commission - Joint Research Centre - Institute for Environment and Sustainability, "International Reference Life Cycle Data System (ILCD) Handbook - General guide for Life Cycle Assessment - Detailed guidance", Publications Office of the European Union: Luxembourg, 2010.

European Commission (1991), "Council directive on the development of the Community's railway", *Official journal of the European Communities*, 91/440/EEC, L 237/25.

European Commission, 2011. Roadmap to a Single European Transport Area: Towards a competitive and resource efficient transport system. White Paper COM(2011) 144 final.

European Court of Auditors (2016), *Rail freight transport in the EU: still not on the right track*, Publications Office of the European Union, n°8, Luxembourg.

European Union. Public Administration, 94(3), 579–592.

Eurostat (2016), *EU transport in figures: Statistical pocketbook*, Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg.

Eurostat Statistics, 2017. URL: http://ec.europa.eu/eurostat

Federal Planning Office (2015). *Input-outputtabellen 2010*. Publication by FPB, publisher: Philippe Donnay, Brussels.

Friebel, G., Ivaldi, M., Vibes, C. (2010), "Railway (De)Regulation: A European Efficiency Comparison", *Economica*, Vol. 77, pp. 77-91.

Gasparic, C., Reinhold, T., Salehi, F. (2009), "Rail freight: returning to profitability", Discussion paper, AT Kearney (Ed.).

Ghane-Ezabadi, M., and Vergara, H.A. (2016). Decomposition approach for integrated intermodal logistics network design. *Transportation Research Part E: Logistics and Transportation Review*,89:53-69.

Head, B. W. (2008). Assessing network-based collaborations: effectiveness for whom? *Public Management Review*, 10(6), 733–749.

Helms, H. and Lambrecht, U., "The potential contribution of light-weighting to reduce transport energy consumption", The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment, Vol. 12, Issue 1, 2006.

lannone, F. (2012). The private and social cost efficiency of port hinterland container distribution through a regional logistics system. *Transportation Research Part A*, 46:1424-1448.

IEA/UIC, "Railway handbook 2015. Energy consumption and CO₂ emissions", Focus on vehicle efficiency, International Energy Agency and the International Union of Railways, 2015.

Ishfaq, R., Sox, C., 2011. Hub location-allocation in intermodal logistic networks. *European Journal of Operational Research*, 210(2):213-230.

Karré, P. M., van der Steen, M., & van Twist, M. (2013). Joined-Up Government in The Netherlands: Experiences with Program Ministries. *International Journal of Public Administration*, 36(1), 63–73.

Klijn, E. H., & Koppenjan, J. (2016). *Governance networks in the public sector*. New York: Routledge.

Klijn, E. H., and Koppenjan, J. (2004). *Managing Uncertainties in Networks*. New York, N.Y.: Routledge.

Kuipers, B., Burgess, A., Manshanden, W.J.J., Verweij, C.A., Muskens, A.C., Rustenburg, M. and Snelder, M., (2005), De economische Betekenis van het Goederenwegvervoer, Delft, TNO Ruimte en Infrastructuur

Lægreid, P., Sarapuu, K., Rykkja, L. H., & Randma-Liiv, T. (2014). Organizing for coordination in the public sector: Practices and lessons from 12 European countries. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan

Laffont, JJ., Tirole, J. (1991) "The politics of government decision-making: a theory of regulatory capture". *The quarterly journal of economics*, 106 (4), pp. 1089-1127.

Lai, M. and Lo, H. K. (2004). Ferry service network design: optimal fleet size, routing, and scheduling. *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice*, 38(4):305–328.

Laisi, M., Mäkitalo, M., Hilmola, O-P. (2012), "Stimulating competition in the liberalized railway freight market", *Baltic Journal of Management*, Vol. 7 No. 1, pp. 68-85.

Limbourg, S. and Jourquin, B. (2010). Market area of intermodal rail-road container terminals embedded in a hub-and—spoke network. *Papers in Regional Science*, 89(1):135-154.

Limbourg, S., and Jourquin, B. (2009). Optimal rail-road container terminal locations on the European network. *Transportation Research. Part E: Logistics and Transportation Review*, 45(4):551-563.

Lipczynski, J., Wilson, J., Goddard, J. (2013), *Industrial organization: competition, strategy and policy*, Pearson, 4th edition.

Macharis, C. and Pekin, E. (2009). Assessing policy measures for the stimulation of intermodal transport: a GIS-based policy analysis. *Journal of Transport Geography*, 17(6):500–508.

Macharis, C., Van Hoeck, E., Pekin, E., and Van Lier, T. (2010). A decision analysis framework for intermodal transport: Comparing fuel price increases and the internalization of external costs. *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice*, 44(7):550–561.

Mathieu E., Verhoest K. and Matthys J. (2017). Measuring multi-level regulatory govern-ance: Organizational proliferation, coordination, and concentration of influence. *Regulation & Governance*, 11 (3): 252-268. Published in early view: 15 august 2016 | DOI: 10.1111/rego.12127.

May, P. J., Jochim, A. E., & Sapotichne, J. (2011). Constructing homeland security: An anemic policy regime. *Policy Studies Journal*, 39(2), 285–307.

Mc Cullough, G. (2007), "U.S. Railroad Efficiency: A Brief Economic Overview", *Transportation Research Board Conference Proceedings*, Vol. 3, pp. 63-71.

Meers, D., and Macharis, C. (2014). Are additional intermodal terminals still desirable? An analysis for Belgium. *The European Journal of Transport and Infrastructure Research*, 14(2):178-196.

Meersman, H., et al., 2013. *Indicatorenboek 2012 Duurzaam goederenvervoer Vlaanderen*. Universiteit Antwerpen, Departement Transport en Ruimtelijke Economie, Steunpunt Goederen- en personenvervoer, Antwerpen. Meersman, H., Pauwels, T., Struyf, E., Van de Voorde, E., Vanelslander, T., 2011. Ground handling in a changing market. The case of Brussels Airport. Research in Transportation Business & Management, 1 (1), 128-135.

Merchan, A., Belboom, S. and Léonard, A., "Deliverable D 4.2 Scenario 1: Best case. BRAINTRAINS: Transversal assessment of new intermodal strategies, WP4: Sustainability impact", 2017a.

Merchan, A., Belboom, S. and Léonard, A., "Deliverable D 4.3 Scenario 2: Worst case. BRAINTRAINS: Transversal assessment of new intermodal strategies, WP4: Sustainability impact", 2017b.

Merchan, A., Belboom, S. and Léonard, A., "Deliverable D 4.4 Scenario 3: Medium case. BRAINTRAINS: Transversal assessment of new intermodal strategies, WP4: Sustainability impact", 2018.

Meuleman, L. (2008). *Public management and the metagovernance of hierarchies, networks and markets: The feasibility of designing and managing governance style combinations*. Heidelberg, Germany: Physica-Verlag.

Miller R.E. & Blair P.D. (2009). Input-output analysis : foundation and extensions. Second edition. Cambridge University Press, The Edinburgh Building, Cambridge, United Kingdom.

Milward, H. B., and Provan, K. G. (2006). *A Manager's Guide to Choosing and Using Collaborative Networks*. Retrieved from the IBM Center for the Business of Government website: http://www.srpc.ca/ess2016/summit/Reference_9-Milner.pdf.

Molenveld, A. (2016). *Organizational adaptation to cross-cutting policy objectives*. Dissertation - KU Leuven/University of Antwerp.

Mostert, M. and Limbourg, S. (2016). External costs as competitiveness factors for freight transport: a state of the art. *Transport Reviews*, 36(6):692-712.

Mostert, M., Caris, A., and Limbourg, S. (2017a). Intermodal network design: A three-mode biobjective model applied to the case of Belgium. *Flexible Service and Manufacturing Journal*, In Press. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10696-016-9275-1

Mostert, M., Caris, A., and Limbourg, S. (2017b). Road and intermodal transport performance: the impact of operational costs and air pollution external costs. *Research in Transportation Business and Management*, 23:75-85.

Mouter, N., Annema, J. and Van Wee, B. (2012), Ranking the substantive problems in the Dutch Cost–Benefit Analysis practice, Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice, 49, 241–255

Mulford, C.L. and Rogers D.L. (1982). Definitions and Models. Pp. 9-31 in: Rogers, D.L. and Whetten, D.A. (eds.) *Interorganizational coordination: theory, research, and implementation*. Iowa State University Press, Ames.

NBB (2015). *Nationale rekeningen: gedetailleerde rekeningen en tabellen 2014*. Nationale Bank van België, Brussel.

O'Flynn, J. (2008). Elusive appeal or aspirational ideal? The rhetoric and reality of the "collaborative turn" in *public policy. Collaborative Governance: A New Era of Public Policy in Australia*, 181–195.

Oum, T-H. and Yu, C. (1994), "Economic efficiency of railways and implications for public policy", *Journal of transportation economics and policy*, Vol. 28 No. 2, pp. 121-138.

Oum, T-H., Waters, W-G., Yu, C. (1999), "A survey of productivity and efficiency measurement in rail transport", *Journal of transport economics and policy*, Vol. 33 No. 1, pp. 9-42.

Peeters, C., De Monie, G., Maes, T., Cuppers, W., 2002. *Het economisch, financieel en strategisch belang van de haven van Gent, toekomstscenario's ter versterking van de concurrentiepositie*, Garant Uitgevers N.V., Antwerpen, ISBN 90-441-1283-X

Perennes, P. (2014). Intermodal competition: studying the pricing strategy of the french rail monopoly. In *Transport Research Arena 2014*.

Peters, B. G. (2015). *Pursuing horizontal management: The politics of public sector coordination*. University Press of Kansas.

Peters, B. G. (2018). The challenge of policy coordination. *Policy Design and Practice*, 1(1), 1–11.

Racunica, I. and Wynter, L. (2005). Optimal location of intermodal freight hubs. *Transportation Research Part B*, 39:453-477.

Santos, B., Limbourg, S. and Carreira, J. S. (2015). The impact of transport policies on railroad intermodal freight competitiveness – The case of Belgium. *Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment*, 34:230-244.

Schmidt, S. (2001), "Market structure and market outcomes in deregulated rail freight markets", *International journal of industrial organization*, Vol. 19, pp. 99-131.

Scott, J. (1991). Networks of Corporate Power: A Comparative Assessment. *Annual Review of Sociology*, 17(1):181-203.

SERV (2009). Impact van de financiële en economische crisis op Vlaanderen en België – Analyse huidige situatie, impact van de crisis, analyse van de herstelplannen, 250909 Impact economische crisis, 25 september 2009, Brussel.

Shepherd, W. (1999), The economics of industrial organization, Waveland Press, Illinois

Six, F. and Verhoest Koen (eds.) (2017), Trust in regulatory regimes. Cheltenham: Edward Elgar

Sloboda, B. (2004), "Performance measurement of U.S. Class I Railroads, 1980-2001", International Journal of Transport Economics, Vol. 31, No. 2, pp. 229-246.

SNCB, "Rapport de développement durable 2008", 2009.

Sørensen, E., & Torfing, J. (2005). The democratic anchorage of governance networks. *Scandinavian Political Studies*, 28(3), 195-218.

Sørensen, E., and Torfing, J. (2012). Introduction: Collaborative innovation in the public sector. *Innovation Journal: The Public Sector Innovation Journal*, 17(1), 1-14.

Sörensen, K. and Vanovermeire, C. (2013). Bi-objective optimization of the intermodal terminal location problem as a policy-support tool. *Computers in Industry*, 64:128-135.

Sörensen, K., Vanovermeire, C. and Busschaert, S. (2012). Efficient metaheuristics to solve the intermodal terminal location problem. *Computers & Operations Research*, 39:2079–2090.

Spielmann, M., Bauer, C., Dones, R., Tuchschmid, M. "Transport Services. Ecoinvent report No. 14", Swiss Centre for Life Cycle Inventories, Dübendorf, 2007.

Stead, D. and E. Meijers. (2009). Spatial Planning and Policy Integration: concepts, facilitators and inhibitors. *Planning Theory and Practice*, 10(3):317-332.

SteadieSeifi, M., Dellaert, N. P., Nuijten, W., Van Woensel, T., and Raoufi, R. (2014). Multimodal freight transportation planning: A literature review. *European journal of operational research*, 233(1):1–15.

Stevens, V. (2017a). How to Manage Collaborative Policy Innovation Networks? Practical Lessons from a Flemish Coastal Protection Initiative. *Journal of public Administration and Governance*, 7(4), 94-116.

Stevens, V. (2017c). Discussion: The Network Manager as Therapist. *Journal of Public Administration and Governance*, 7(3): 118-122.

Stevens, V. (2018a). *Managing the Ostrich's dance. A study on the management of collaborative networks for the promotion of policy innovations*. Published dissertation Universiteit Antwerpen. Can be retreived from: https://repository.uantwerpen.be/docman/irua/dc1bbc/150403.pdf.

Stevens, V. (2018b). *Individual learning behaviour in collaborative networks*. In: Dunlop, C., C. Radaelli, and P. Trein, *Learning in Public Policy: Analysis, Modes and Outcomes*. Palgrave-MacMillan, Basingtoke, United Kingdom.

Stevens, V. and A. Agger. (2017b). Managing Collaborative Innovation Networks- Practical Lessons from a Belgian Spatial Planning initiative. *Journal of Public Aministrtaion and Governance*, 7(3): 154-173.

Stevens, V. and K. Verhoest. (2016a). How to metagovern collaborative networks for the promotion of policy innovations in a dualistic federal system. *The Innovation Journal: the Public Sector Innovation Journal*, 21(2): 1-26.

Stevens, V. and K. Verhoest. (2016b). A next step in collaborative policy innovation research: analysing interactions using Exponential Random Graph Modeling. *The Innovation Journal: The Public Sector Innovation Journal*, 21(2): 1-20

Stevens, V. and L. Dorren. (2017). Leergedrag van Ambtenaren in Netwerken, in: G. Bouma, Gedeelde Ruimte. Beroepsvereniging van Nederlandse Stedenbouwkundigen en Planologen en Vlaamse Vereniging voor Ruimte en Planning. Sys, C. (2010), *Inside the box: assessing the competitive conditions, the concentration and the market structure of the container liner shipping industry*, Doctoral dissertation, Ghent University and University of Antwerp, Belgium.

Termeer, C., & Nooteboom, S. (2014). Innovative leadership through networks. This is a chapter. In C. Ansell & J. Torfing (Eds.). *Public Innovation through Collaboration and Design* (pp. 170-188). New York, N.Y.: Routledge.

Torfing, J. (2017). Collaborative Innovation in the Public Sector. Georgetown University Press.

Tosun, J., & Lang, A. (2017). Policy integration: mapping the different concepts. *Policy Studies*, 38(6), 553–570.

Trein, Philipp (2017). "A New Way to compare Horizontal Connections of Policy Sectors: 'Coupling' of Actors, Institutions and Policies." *Journal of Comparative Policy Analysis, Research and Practice*. 19(5), 419-434.

Trein, Philipp, Iris Meyer, Martino Maggetti (forthcoming). "The Integration and Coordination of Public Policies: A Systematic Comparative Review." *Journal of Comparative Policy Analysis: Research and Practice*.

Troch, F., Vanelslander, T., Belboom, S., L'eonard, A., Limbourg, S., Merchan Arribas, A., Mostert, M., Pauwels, T., Vidar, S., and Sys, C. (2017). A road map for explorative scenario creation on belgian rail freight transport development. *Competition and Regulation in Network Industries*, 18(1-2):3–21.

Troch, F., Vanelslander, T., Belboom, S., L'eonard, A., Limbourg, S., Merchan Arribas, A., Mostert, M., Pauwels, T., Vidar, S., Sys, C., et al. (2015). Brain-trains: Intermodal rail freight transport and hinterland connections a swot analysis to assess the belgian rail practice. In *Proceedings of the IAME Annual Conference 2015, International Association of Maritime Economists, Kuala Lumpur, 24-26 August 2015.*

Van de Voorde, E. and Vanelslander, T. (2014), Development of rail freight in Europe: What regulation can and cannot do, Belgium Case Study, Discussion paper, Centre on regulation in Europe.

Van Dijk, 2017. Krachtige belgische & luxemburgse bedrijfsinformatie, Bureau Van Dijk, database, Consulted on 08/09/2017 at url: https://www.bvdinfo.com/nl-be/home

Vanstraelen, A., 2005. Financiële rapportering en analyse met oefeningen, Tweede herwerkte en geactualiseerde uitgave, Uitgeverij Acco, Leuven, ISBN 90-334-5945-0

Vennix, S., 2017. *Economic importance of air transport and airport activities in Belgium – Report 2015*, National Bank of Belgium Working Paper, 324.

Verhoest, K., Bouckaert, G. (2005). Machinery of government and policy capacity : the effects of specialization and coordination. In: Painter M. (Eds.), *Challenges to state policy capacity : global trends and comparative perspectives* (pp. 92-111). Basingstoke: . Palgrave Macmillan.

Vierth, I. (2011), "15 years deregulated rail freight market – lessons from Sweden", paper presented at the European Transport Conference, 10-12 October, Glasgow.

Voets, J., Verhoest, K., & Molenveld, A. (2015). Coordinating for Integrated Youth Care: The need for smart metagovernance. *Public Management Review*, 17(7), 981-1001. https://doi.org/10.1080/14719037.2015.1029347

Weidema B.P., Bauer, C., Hischier, R., Mutel, C., Nemecek, T., Reinhard, J., Vadenbo, C.O., Wernet, G., "The ecoinvent database: Overview and methodology, Data quality guideline for the ecoinvent database version 3", 2013. www.ecoinvent.org

Welten, J. P. P. J., 1996. Berekening En Toepassing Van Nederlandse Grootte-eenheden En Standaardbedrijfseenheden (nge 1992 en sbe 1994). Den Haag: Landbouw-economisch instituut.

Wheat, P.E. and Smith, A.S.J. (2010), *Econometric Evidence on Train Operating Company Size*, Report for ORR, Institute for Transport Studies, University of Leeds.

Wieberneit, N. (2008). Service network design for freight transportation: a review. *OR spectrum*, 30(1):77–112.

Wilkins, P., Phillimore, J., & Gilchrist, D. (2017). Collaboration by the public sector: findings by watchdogs in Australia and New Zealand. *Public Money & Management*, 37(3), 217–224.

Woodburn, A. (2014), "Development of rail freight in Europe: what regulation can and cannot do? United Kingdom case study", Discussion paper, Centre on regulation in Europe.

Zhang, M., Janic, M. and Tavasszy, L. (2015). A freight transport optimization model for integrated network, service, and policy design. *Transportation Research Part E*, 77 :61-76.

Zhang, M., Wiegmans, B. and Tavasszy, L. (2013). Optimization of multimodal networks including environmental costs: A model and findings for transport policy. *Computers in Industry*, 64 :136-145.